
 

  

 

 

Corporation of the County of Elgin 
Land Division Committee 

 
AGENDA 

 
For Wednesday, March 23, 2022 9:00 A.M 

 

1st Call to Order 

2nd Requests for Deferral of Application or for any Request for Withdrawal of an 
Application 

3rd  Adoption of Minutes  

4th Business Arising Out of Minutes 

5th Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest or the General Nature Thereof 

6th Correspondence – Items for Information 

7th Business Arising from Correspondence 

8th New Business 

9th Consent Applications 
 
9:10am E 8-22     Rodney & Trudy Malloy - 42595 Walnut St – a a         
sa                                       Municipality of Central Elgin               A                                          
 
9:20am E 10-22 Mark Currelley – 9590 Currie Road – zzz z z                                                                                                                          
a                                         Municipality of Dutton Dunwich  
 
9:30am E 11-22 David & Mary Thiessen - 51553 Calton Line -                    
a                                         Township of Malahide 
 
9:40am E 71-21 Barbara Farms Inc. - 11714 Coyne Rd – zzz z z                                                                 
a                                         Municipality of Dutton Dunwich  
 
9:50am E 72-21 Barbara Farms Inc. - 11552 Coyne Rd -                          
a                                         Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 
 
10:00am E 76-21 Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy 
    Plank Road – Municipality of Bayham 
  E 77-21 Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy 
    Plank Road – Municipality of Bayham 
  E 78-21 Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy 
    Plank Road – Municipality of Bayham 



 

  

 

E 79-21 Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy 
    Plank Road – Municipality of Bayham 

10th Date of Next Meeting 

11th Adjournment 
 

VIRTUAL MEETING: IN-PERSON PARTICIPATION RESTRICTED 

NOTE FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC: 

Please click the link below to watch the Committee Meeting: 
https://www.facebook.com/ElginCountyAdmin/ 

Accessible formats available upon request. 

https://www.facebook.com/ElginCountyAdmin/


 
February 23, 2022 

 
Corporation of the County of Elgin  

Land Division Committee 

Minutes  

February 23, 2022 

County of Elgin Land Division Committee met this 23rd day of February 2022.  The meeting 
was held in a hybrid in-person/electronic format with Committee Members and staff 
participating as indicated below. 
 
 
Committee Members Present (electronic / in-person):  
 Dugald Aldred (in-person) 
 John Andrews (in-person) 
 John R. “Ian” Fleck, Chairman (in-person)  
 Rosemary Kennedy (in-person) 
 Dennis O’Grady (in-person) 
 John Seldon (electronic) 
 Jack Van Kasteren, Vice-Chairman (in-person) 
 
Staff Present (in-person): 
 Julie Gonyou, CAO & Clerk / Land Division Committee Secretary-Treasurer 
 Brian Lima, General Manager of Engineering, Planning & Enterprise 
  
City of St. Thomas – Interim Planning Support (in-person):  
 Kevin McClure, Planner  

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

The meeting convened at 9:00 a.m. with John R “Ian” Fleck in the Chair. 

 
2. REQUESTS FOR DEFERRAL OF APPLICATION OR FOR ANY REQUEST FOR 

WITHDRAWAL OF AN APPLICATION 
 
None. 

 
3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

 
Moved by: Dennis O’Grady 
Seconded by: Rosemary Kennedy  

 



P a g e  | 2 
February 23, 2022  

2  

RESOLVED THAT the minutes of the meeting held on January 26, 2022 be adopted as 
amended. 

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 

- Motion Carried. 
4. BUSINESS ARISING OUT OF MINUTES 

 
None.  

 
5. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND THE GENERAL NATURE 

THEREOF 

None. 
 

6. CORRESPONDENCE – ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 

Correspondence - Letter from Steve Clark - Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing 
 
Moved by: John Andrews 
Seconded by: Dugald Aldred  

 
RESOLVED THAT the correspondence from Minister Steve Clark be received and filed.  

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 
 

- Motion Carried. 



P a g e  | 3 
February 23, 2022  

3  

 
7. BUSINESS ARISING FROM CORRESPONDENCE 

 
Presentation – John E. Hogan, B.B.A., LL.B., Partner – HENNESSEY & HOGAN 
 
Mr. Hogan provided a verbal overview of the amendments to Section 50 of the Ontario Planning 
Act.  A written summary of the changes was provided to Land Division Committee Members and is 
attached hereto.  
 
Moved by: John Andrews  
Seconded by: Dennis O’Grady  

 
RESOLVED THAT the presentation from John E. Hogan be received.  

 
Recorded Vote – Minutes  Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 
 

- Motion Carried. 
 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS 
 

None. 
 

9. APPLICATIONS FOR CONSENT: 
 

Application E 5-22 – 9:20 a.m. 
Marilyn Ott 9440 Graham Road, West Elgin, ON N0L 2P0 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 21.86 metres (71.72 
feet) along Graham Road by a depth of 68.67 metres (225.30 feet) and an area of 
0.15 hectares (0.37 acres) to create a new residential lot. The applicants are 
retaining 1.07 hectares (2.64 acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 

 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 

 



P a g e  | 4 
February 23, 2022  

4  

Owner: Marilyn Ott and her husband Charles were present electronically. 
 

Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 
 

Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of West Elgin  Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Lower Thames Conservation Authority Staff have no concerns to the 
application as submitted 

3 Elgin County Engineering Services Not on a County Road 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

5 Other n/a  
 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
Moved by: Dennis O’Grady 
Seconded by: Rosemary Kennedy  

 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 5-22 be approved subject to the following 
conditions:  
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to 
the County of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of registered deed for the severed 
parcel once completed.  

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local 
municipality, prior to final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County 
Planning. 

4. Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an 
existing connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. 
All costs to be borne by the owner. Discharge of water to the County Road 
allowance is prohibited. 

5. That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a 
new entrance to the severed and/or retained parcels. All costs associated with 
this shall be borne by the owner. 

6. Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot. 
 

Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of West Elgin be 
included as conditions for consent: 

 



P a g e  | 5 
February 23, 2022  

5  

7. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

8. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 
be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality. 

9. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality. 

10. That the Applicant shall make payment of cash-in-lieu of applicable parkland 
dedication pursuant to Section 51.1 of the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and 
clearance of the Municipality. 

11. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Minor 
Variance/Zoning By-law Amendment for the severed parcel and having such 
relief/rezoning of the Zoning By-law come into full force and effect pursuant to 
the Planning Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

12. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed pursuant to 
the Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

13. That the Applicant shall have a septic system assessment be completed by a 
qualified individual, on the proposed severed parcel to ensure that the existing 
privately owned and operated septic system is in working order and proper 
location and complete any improvements necessary, through a septic 
inspection, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

14. That the Applicant shall have a septic system assessment be completed by a 
qualified individual, on the proposed retained parcel to ensure that the lands 
are suitable for a privately owned and operated septic system, to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

15. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provide a request for clearance of conditions to 
the Municipality, demonstrating how all the conditions of consent has been 
fulfilled, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

16. That prior the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing by 
the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

17. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice 
of Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 
 

Recorded Vote – E 5-22 Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   



P a g e  | 6 
February 23, 2022  

6  

 
- Motion Carried. 

 

Application E 6-22 – 9:30 a.m. 
2869362 Ontario Inc., 151 Rouen Street, Belmont, ON N0L 1B0 

 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 19.78 metres (64.90 
feet) along Rouen Street by a depth of 20.07 metres (65.85 feet) and an area of 
0.04 hectares (0.10 acres) to add to an abutting lot. The applicants are retaining 
0.04 hectares (0.10 acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee  
 
Owner: no representative(s) present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of Central Elgin  Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Kettle Creek Conservation Authority Staff have no objections to the 
application as submitted 

3 Elgin County Engineering Services No comments provided 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

5 Other n/a  
 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 
 

Moved by: Dennis O’Grady 
Seconded by: John Andrews  
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 6-22 be approved subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to 
the County of Elgin; 

2. The severed land be merged in title with the abutting lot, described as Part of 
Lot 24 on Registered Plan 396; and 



P a g e  | 7 
February 23, 2022  

7  

3. Solicitor Undertaking whereby they inform the Committee in writing, that the 
lands are being conveyed to an abutting property owner and thus a merger of 
title will take place, which merger shall include all interests held inclusive or 
mortgagee’s interest. 

 
Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of Central Elgin be 
included as conditions for consent: 

 
4. The chain link fence and hedgerow encroaching on the Rouen Street and 

Lorne Street municipal right-of-way be removed and the framed sheds on the 
residential building lot be removed to the satisfaction of the Municipality of 
Central Elgin; 

5. The applicant enters into an agreement with the Municipality of Central Elgin 
to address administrative, technical, and financial matters; 

6. The severed land be merged in title with the abutting lands to the south, Part 
Lot 24, Registered Plan No. 396; 

7. That Subsection 3 or 5 of Section 50 of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as 
amended shall apply to any subsequent conveyance or transaction involving 
the subject lands; 

8. The Solicitor for the applicant is to provide an undertaking, whereby they 
inform the committee in writing, that the lands are being conveyed to an 
abutting property owner and thus a merger of title will take place, which 
merger shall include all interests held inclusive or mortgagee’s interest; and  

9. The Municipality of Central Elgin be provided with a copy of the Reference 
Plan. 

 
Recorded Vote – E 6-22 Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

Application E 7-22 – 9:40 a.m. 
2869362 Ontario Inc., 151 Rouen Street, Belmont, ON N0L 1B0 
 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 20.37 metres (66.83 
feet) along Rouen Street by a depth of 20.14 metres (66.08 feet) and an area of 
0.04 hectares (0.10 acres) to add to an abutting lot. The applicants are retaining 
0.04 hectares (0.10 acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 



P a g e  | 8 
February 23, 2022  

8  

 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 

 
Owner: no representative(s) present 
 
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of Central Elgin  Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Kettle Creek Conservation Authority Staff have no objections to the 
application as submitted 

3 Elgin County Engineering Services No comments provided 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

5 Other n/a  
 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 
 

 
Moved by: Dennis O’Grady 
Seconded by: Dugald Aldred 
 
RESOLVED THAT severance application E 7-22 be approved subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 
County of Elgin; 

2. The severed land be merged in title with the abutting lot, described as Part of 
Lot 25 on Registered Plan 396; and 

3. Solicitor Undertaking whereby they inform the Committee in writing, that the 
lands are being conveyed to an abutting property owner and thus a merger of 
title will take place, which merger shall include all interests held inclusive or 
mortgagee’s interest. 
 

Additionally, the following conditions from the Municipality of Central Elgin be included as 
conditions for consent: 

 



P a g e  | 9 
February 23, 2022  

9  

4. The chain link fence and hedgerow encroaching on the Rouen Street and Lorne 
Street municipal right-of-way be removed and the framed sheds on the 
residential building lot be removed to the satisfaction of the Municipality of 
Central Elgin; 

5. The applicant enters into an agreement with the Municipality of Central Elgin to 
address administrative, technical, and financial matters; 

6. The severed land be merged in title with the abutting lands to the north, Part Lot 
25, Registered Plan No. 396; 

7. That Subsection 3 or 5 of Section 50 of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as 
amended shall apply to any subsequent conveyance or transaction involving the 
subject lands; 

8. The Solicitor for the applicant is to provide an undertaking, whereby they inform 
the committee in writing, that the lands are being conveyed to an abutting 
property owner and thus a merger of title will take place, which merger shall 
include all interests held inclusive or mortgagee’s interest; and  

9. The Municipality of Central Elgin be provided with a copy of the Reference Plan. 
 

 
Recorded Vote – E 7-22 Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 

- Motion Carried. 
 
 

Application E 67-21 – 9:50 a.m. 
DeWild Farms Inc., 20183 Marsh Line, Rodney ON N0L 2C0 
 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage of 77.26 metres (253.47 
feet) along Marsh Line by a depth of 89.48 metres (293.57 feet) and an area of 0.69 
hectares (1.71 acres) containing one residence, barn and shed, surplus to the 
needs of the purchasing farmer. The owners are retaining 13.2 hectares (32.6 
acres) proposed to be added to the neighbouring farm property, to remain in 
agricultural use.  

 
Chairman Fleck requested that the applicant’s agents and any interested parties 
who wish to speak to this application introduce themselves to the Committee. 

 



P a g e  | 10 
February 23, 2022  

10  

 Owner: John Lamb was present in-person  

 Agent: Gary Merritt (lawyer from Glencoe, ON) was present electronically 

  
Written submissions (*) were received from the following: 

 
Submission Comments 
1 Municipality of West Elgin  Recommends approval of a 

revised application subject to the 
conditions provided 

2 Lower Thames Valley Conservation 
Authority 

Staff have no concerns to the 
application as submitted 

3 Elgin County Engineering Services Not on a County Road 
4 Elgin County Planning Services Recommends approval of 

application subject to the 
conditions provided 

5 Other n/a  
 

 
(*) A copy of the comment package which includes all correspondence received is 
available upon request. 

 
 
Moved by: John Andrews 
Seconded by: Dugald Aldred 
 
RESOLVED THAT the amended severance application E 67-21 be approved subject to the 
following conditions:  

 
1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 

County of Elgin;  
2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of registered deed for the severed 

parcel once completed: and 
3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local 

municipality, prior to final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County Planning. 
 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of West 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent: 
 

4. That the Applicant meet all the requirements, financial and otherwise of the 
Municipality, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

5. That the Applicant provides a description of the lands to be severed which can 
be registered in the Land Registry Office, to the satisfaction and clearance of 
the Municipality. 



P a g e  | 11 
February 23, 2022  

11  

6. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provides an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the severed parcel once the 
transaction has occurred to the Municipality. 

7. That the Applicant successfully apply to the Municipality for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment for the severed parcel and having such rezoning of the Zoning 
Bylaw come into full force and effect pursuant to the Planning Act, to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

8. That the Applicant shall have a private water well assessment completed on 
the severed parcel to ensure the drinking water source is safe for human 
consumption, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

9. That the Applicant have a septic system assessment be completed by a 
qualified individual, on the proposed severed parcel to ensure that the lands 
are suitable for a privately owned and operated septic system, to the 
satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

10. That the Applicant have a drainage reapportionment completed pursuant to the 
Drainage Act, to the satisfaction and clearance of the Municipality. 

11. That the Applicant’s Solicitor provided an undertaking to the Municipality, to 
provide a copy of the registered deed for the retained parcel prior to the 
transfer of the severed parcel, by transferring retained parcel to the purchasing 
farmer as part of a farm consolidation with the abutting lands to the west, once 
the transaction has occurred to the Municipality. 

12. That prior to the final approval of the County, the County is advised in writing 
by the Municipality how the above-noted conditions have been satisfied. 

13. That all conditions noted above shall be fulfilled within two years of the Notice 
of Decision, so that the County of Elgin is authorized to issue the Certificate of 
Consent pursuant to Section 53(42) of the Planning Act. 

 
 

Recorded Vote – E 67-21 Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

The Land Division Committee will meet again on March 23, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. 
 



P a g e  | 12 
February 23, 2022  

12  

11. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Moved by: Dennis O’Grady 
Seconded by: Dugald Aldred 
 
RESOLVED THAT the Committee adjourn at 10:16 a.m. to meet again on March 23, 2022 
at 9:00 a.m. 
 
 

Recorded Vote – Adjournment Yes No Abstain 
West Elgin Dugald Aldred X   
Dutton Dunwich Ian Fleck X   
Southwold John Andrews X   
Central Elgin Dennis O’Grady X   
Aylmer Jack Van Kasteren X   
Malahide Rosemary Kennedy X   
Bayham John Seldon X   

TOTAL 7   
 

- Motion Carried. 
 

 
 

 
Julie Gonyou        John “Ian” Fleck 

Secretary-Treasurer       Chair 



 

 

 

 
CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION NO.  E 8-22 
 

LOTS 15 PL 213, PT 14 PL 47, 4 
MUNICIPALITY OF CENTRAL ELGIN 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 42595 WALNUT STREET 
 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Rodney & Trudy Malloy, 42595 
Walnut Street, Union, ON N0L 2L0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning 
Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 42595 Walnut Street, 
Municipality of Central Elgin.   
  
The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 18.11 metres (59.42 feet) 
along Stone Church Road by a depth of 111 metres (364.17 feet) and an area of 0.20 
hectares (0.50 acres) to create a new residential lot. The applicants are retaining 5.45 
hectares (13.47 acres), proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached.  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 
 

WEDNESDAY March 23, 2022 AT 9:10 AM. 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

 Council Chambers, County Municipal Offices, 450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas 
 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: YOUR PARTICIPATION BY VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE IS 
PREFERRED.  
 
DUE TO PROVINCIAL ORDERS, ATTENDANCE IN PERSON MAY BE 
RESTRICTED. PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS 
BEFORE THE MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR 
TELELPHONE INFORMATION, OR TO CONFIRM IF IN PERSON ATTENDANCE IS 
POSSIBLE. 
 
If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 
  
If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 
 
Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 15th day of February, 2022. 
 
  
                                                                                    Julie Gonyou  
                                                                                    Secretary-Treasurer 
                                                                                    Land Division Committee 
 
 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynatrue.com 

 







 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
March 1, 2022 
 
Brian Lima 
General Manager of Engineering, Planning & Enterprise/Deputy CAO 
Planning Department 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, ON N5R 5V1 
   

RE:       Consent Application E08/22 
 Rodney and Trudy Malloy, 42595 Walnut Street 
  

 
Dear Mr. Lima: 

Please be advised that Council discussed the above noted application at their Regular/Planning Meeting 
of Council dated Monday, February 28, 2022 and the following resolution was passed: 
 
THAT Report CEP.08.22 re 42595 Walnut Street be received for information;  
AND THAT Council has no objection to consent application E08/22 - Rodney and Trudy Malloy, 42595 

Walnut Street subject to the following recommended conditions: 

1. Approval of a Zoning By-law Amendment to place the severed lot in a R1 zone; 
2. The applicant enters into an agreement with the Municipality of Central Elgin to address 

administrative, technical, legal and financial matters relative to the development of the subject 
lands; 

3. The payment of cash-in-lieu of the dedication of 5% of the land for parkland purposes; 
4. a copy of the reference plan be provided to the Municipality of Central Elgin and  
5. a drainage reassessment be done, if necessary, at the owner's expense. 

 
As per Council’s direction, please note a copy of the planning report has been included for your 
reference.  Please feel free to contact me at the municipal office should you have any questions. 
 
Kind Regards, 

 

Dianne Wilson 
Deputy Clerk/Records Management Coordinator 
 
 



 

 
 

c.c. Rodney & Trudy Malloy, owners 
 Mark T. Coombes, Bowsher & Bowsher, Agent 
 S. Craig, Senior Planning, CEPO 
 

   
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT NO.  CEP.08.22 

CEPO FILE NO. E8/22 

TO    Mayor & Members of Council 

FROM  Steve Craig, Sr. Planning Technician 

SUBJECT   Consent Application – 42595 Walnut Street 

Applicant – Rodney and Trudy Malloy 

DATE   February 28, 2022 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
THAT  Report CEP.08.22 be received for information; 
 
AND THAT Should Council pass a resolution in support of consent application E13/22 to the 
Land Division Committee, staff recommends the following conditions: 
1. Approval of a Zoning By-law Amendment to place the severed lot in a R1 zone; 
2. The applicant enters into an agreement with the Municipality of Central Elgin to address 

administrative, technical and financial matters relative to the development of the subject lands;  
3. The payment of cash-in-lieu of the dedication of 5% of the land for parkland purposes; and 
4. a copy of the reference plan be provided to the Municipality of Central Elgin.  
 
 
REPORT 
 
Background: 
Consent application E8/22 has been filed for the 
purpose of creating one new residential building lot. 
  
Location:  
The subject lands are on the south side of Walnut 
Street and legally described as, Concession 3, Part 
Lot 4 Plan 47 Part, Lot 14, RP-11R1761, Part 1, Plan 
213, Lot 15 PCL 14-1, Section 47, Municipality of 
Central Elgin. 
 

R E P O R T  T O  C O U N C I L  

Location Plan:



 
Proposal: 
The applicant is proposing to sever one vacant lot with frontage of 18.11m on Stone Church Road, 
a depth of 111m and an area of 2,011sqm. The severed lot will be used for one new residential 
building lot. The applicant is proposing to retain a lot with frontage of 32.79m on Walnut Street, a 
depth of 286m and an area of 54,500sqm (5.44 Hectares), containing one house and one garage. 
The retained lot will continue to be used for residential purposes. 

Staff Report  
 
1. Official Plan 
 The subject lands are within the “Urban Settlement Area” designation in accordance with 

Schedule “A” - Land Use Plan, and further designated “Residential” and “Natural Heritage” in 
accordance with Schedule “F” - Community of Union, Land Use Plan, to the Municipality of 
Central Elgin Official Plan.  

 The “Residential” designation permits a broad range of housing types and compatible services 
and amenities within the fully serviced Urban Settlement Areas, in keeping with both local and 
provincial priorities and to make the most efficient use of available infrastructure” (4.2). Where 
land is designated Residential a range of residential dwelling types and densities shall be 
permitted, including single detached, semi-detached, duplex dwellings, triplex dwellings, 
townhouse dwellings and apartment dwellings (4.2.1(a)). 

 The “Natural Heritage” designation permits passive open space, walking/biking trails, forest 
and resource management uses, conservation uses, erosion and flood control, low-intensity 
public and private recreation uses, existing agricultural uses, necessary public utilities and 
services, and accessory buildings and structures thereto (3.1.1(a)). Where development or site 
alteration is proposed on adjacent lands the proponent shall demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the Municipality that there will be no negative impacts to the natural features and/or functions 
for which the area is designated (3.1.2(a)1.). Adjacent lands include those lands within 120 
metres of an area designated as “Natural Heritage” on the Land Use Schedules (3.1.2). The 
severed lands (residential building lot) are not within 120 metres of the Natural Heritage 
Designation. 

 
2. Zoning By-Law 
 The subject lands are within the Open Space Zone 2 (OS2-85) of the Township of Yarmouth 

Zoning By-Law 1998, as amended.  
 Permitted uses of the OS2-85 zone include rural-residential use (8.3.2.85.2), additional 

permitted buildings include one single detached dwelling on a rural residential lot (8.3.2.85.3). 
 The minimum lot area required is 5 hectares (8.3.2.85.4) and the minimum lot frontage is 100ft 

for rural-residential uses (8.3.1.6(b)).  
 A zoning by-Law amendment is required to place the severed lot in the R1 zone, where public 

sanitary sewage disposal facilities and piped public water facilities are not available the 
minimum lot area required is 1,858sqm (9.2.1.3.1), the minimum lot frontage is 30m (9.2.1.4.1) 
and the minimum lot depth required is 30.48m (9.2.1.5). 

 
 
 



3. County of Elgin Official Plan: 
 The subject lands are within a “Tier 2 Settlement Area” in accordance with Schedule “A” - Land 

Use, to the County of Elgin Official Plan.  
 The second tier includes those settlement areas which are generally smaller in population than 

Tier 1 settlement areas and are on partial services. Limited development is permitted in these 
settlement areas given the absence of full municipal services. Development on partial services 
is permitted to allow for infilling and rounding out of existing development provided that 
(B2.5d)): 
a) the proposed development is within the reserve sewage system capacity and reserve water 

system capacity; and 
b) site conditions are site conditions are suitable for long-term provision of such services. 

 
5. Comments 
 A zoning by-law amendment is required to place the severed lot in a R1 zone, which will 

resolve the deficient lot area and establish regulations that are appropriate for the development 
of a single detached dwelling, accessory buildings, and accessory structures on the lot.  

 During the consultation process the Director of Asset Management and Development, 
Municipality of Central Elgin advised the applicant that the subject lands are within an area 
designated for servicing in the Union Area Sanitary Sewer EA and are contemplated for 
servicing with Municipal Wastewater Collection System. Further the approval of the severance 
will eliminate any potential for access to the retained lands for infilling development purposes, 
except for the current frontage on Walnut Street.  

 
Respectfully submitted:    Approved for submission: 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Steve Craig      Paul Shipway 
Sr. Planning Technician    CAO/Clerk 
 
 
_______________________________   
Jim McCoomb, MCIP, RPP   
Manager of Planning Services     
 



From: Joe Gordon
To: Brian Lima
Subject: RE: Notice of Applications - E 8-22
Date: February 18, 2022 9:52:46 AM
Attachments: image001.jpg

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png

Hi Brian
 
Please accept this email as confirmation that KCCA staff has reviewed the subject application notice
E8-22 and that based on our mandate and policies, we have no objection to its approval.
 
I can also confirm that the proposed severed lands for residential development are located outside
of KCCA’s natural hazard regulations under the Conservation Authorities Act.
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment.
 
Thank you,
 
Joe Gordon
Assistant Manager
Supervisor of Planning & Conservation Areas
Kettle Creek Conservation Authority

 

From: Brian Lima <blima@ELGIN.ca> 
Sent: February 16, 2022 3:14 PM
To: Dianne Wilson <DWilson@centralelgin.org>; 'Craig, Steve' <scraig@stthomas.ca>; Joe Gordon
<joe@kettlecreekconservation.on.ca>
Cc: rod@cipg.ca; Mark Coombes <markc@bowsherandbowsher.ca>
Subject: Notice of Applications - E 8-22
 
Good Afternoon,
 
Please find attached the Notice of Application for file number E 8-22 for the Elgin County Land
Division Committee meeting scheduled for March 23, 2022.
 
If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them to landdivision@elgin.ca, by
Monday, March 18, 2022 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division
Committee.
 
Thanks 
 
 
Brian Lima, P.Eng.

mailto:joe@kettlecreekconservation.on.ca
mailto:blima@elgin.ca
mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca






General Manager of Engineering, Planning & Enterprise / Deputy CAO

450 Sunset Drive
St. Thomas, ON. N5R 5V1
(519) 631-1460 ext. 117
blima@elgin.ca
www.elgincounty.ca

 

mailto:blima@elgin.ca
https://lsems.gravityzone.bitdefender.com/scan/aHR0cDovL3d3dy5lbGdpbmNvdW50eS5jYS8=/177CA90614B0619B0AB20C28A8E523A76EF90037BB5927099A9D54BB3A4F35A0?c=1&i=1&docs=1


COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 
 
DATE: March 16, 2022 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.:  
 
TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE:   
APPLICATION NO.: E 8-22 
OWNER: Rodney & Trudy Malloy 
PROPERTY: LOT NO. LOTS 15 PL 213, PT 14 

PL 47, 4 
CONCESSION:  

 REG’D PLAN:  MUNICIPALITY: Central Elgin 
 
The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 
     [Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage  

of the severed and retained lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Third Line County Road (18) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  
All costs to be borne by the owner.  

 
 
 

  
2)  A one-foot reserve is required along the N__________,        

S__________, E_________ and/or W__________ property line …………………..…………...  
  
3)  Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….………………  
  
4)  A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act  * (By Professional Engineer)….…  
  
5)  A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….…………..  
  
6)  Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne 
by the owner.   Discharge of water to the County road allowance is 
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

 
    

  
7)  Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………...  
  
8)  That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance 
to the severed and/or retained parcels.  All costs associated with this shall be borne by the 
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

    

  
9)  Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...…………………  
  
10) The County has no concerns………………………………………………………………………..  
  
11) Not on County Road …………………………………………………………………………………. X 
  
12)  Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….………………  
  

13) Other…  
 
 
Note:  These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 

amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

 

          
______________________________________ 

 BRIAN LIMA, P. ENG. 
GENERAL MANAGER OF ENGINEERING, 
PLANNING & ENTERPRISE / DEPUTY CAO 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From: St. Thomas Planning & Building Department  
Date:   March 16, 2022   
Application:  E 8-22 

 
 
  

Owner:   
Rodney and Trudy Malloy 
42595 Walnut Street, Union, ON N0L 2L0 
 

Agent: 
Mark T. Coombes 
2 Second Ave, St. Thomas, ON, N5R 5S7 

Location: 42595 Walnut Street, Concession 3, Part Lot 4 Plan 47 Part, Lot 14, RP-11R1761, 
Part 1, Plan 213, Lot 15 PCL 14-1, Section 47, Municipality of Central Elgin. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to sever a parcel with a frontage 18.11 metres on Stone Church 
Road, by a depth of 111 metres and an area of 0.2 hectares for future residential use. The 
applicants are retaining a lot with frontage of 32.79 metres on Walnut Street, a depth of 286 
metres and an area of 5.44 hectares to remain in residential use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Settlement Area Tier 2 Residential and Natural 
Heritage 

Open Space Zone 2 (OS2-
85) 

 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Central Elgin – 
 
• A zoning by-law amendment is required to place the severed lot in a R1 zone, which will 

resolve the deficient lot area and establish regulations that are appropriate for the 
development of a single detached dwelling, accessory buildings, and accessory structures 
on the lot. 

• During the consultation process the Director of Asset Management and Development, 
Municipality of Central Elgin advised the applicant that the subject lands are within an 
area designated for servicing in the Union Area Sanitary Sewer EA and are contemplated 
for servicing with Municipal Wastewater Collection System. Further the approval of the 
severance will eliminate any potential for access to the retained lands for infilling 
development purposes, except for the current frontage on Walnut Street. 

 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

County Engineering – Not on a County Road. 
 
Kettle Creek Conservation Authority – No concerns. 
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement  
In considering this application, staff must have regard to matters of Provincial Interest in 
accordance with Section 2 of the Planning Act (PA), and subdivision criteria in accordance 
with Section 51(24) of the PA. 
 
The application shall also be consistent with the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement (PPS). 
Policy 1.1.3 (Settlement Areas) outlines that settlement areas including cities, towns, villages 
and hamlets, are to be the focus of growth and development within municipalities. 
Specifically, Policy 1.1.3.2 outlines that land use patterns within these settlement areas shall 
be based on densities and a mix of land uses which efficiently use land and resources. 
 
The applicants propose to sever vacant land for future rural residential use and retain the 
existing residential use on the subject site.  

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The settlement areas in the County are divided into three tiers based on their scale, function, 
and the level of services that exist in each settlement. The subject site is designated 
Settlement Area Tier 2 in the Elgin County Official Plan (OP). The second tier includes those 
settlement areas which are generally smaller than Tier 1 settlement areas and are on partial 
services. Limited development is permitted in these areas given the absence of full services. 
Development on partial services is permitted for infilling and rounding out subject to the 
proposal being withing the reserve capacity of the municipal system and site conditions being 
suitable for the long-term provision of the required services. 
 
Section E.1.2.3.1 General Criteria outlines that consents may be supported subject to the 
application not creating any new traffic issues or hazards with appropriate access; the 
proposed retained and severed lots being appropriately sized in accordance with the local 
zoning by-law and, if not, a Planning Act application to address minimum lot area regulations 
in accordance with the Zoning By-law; all other regulations of the Zoning By-law can be met; 
appropriate servicing exists; and the application will not have any adverse impacts on 
drainage, development of the retained lands, natural heritage or natural hazards. Planning 
staff is satisfied there will be no adverse impacts as a result of this lot creation. 

 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
The subject lands are designated "Residential" and “Natural Heritage” on Schedule 'F' – 
Community of Union, Land Use Plan, to the Municipality of Central Elgin Official Plan. 
 
The “Residential” designation permits a broad range of housing types and compatible 
services and amenities within the fully serviced Urban Settlement Areas, in keeping with both 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

local and provincial priorities and to make the most efficient use of available infrastructure” 
(4.2). Where land is designated Residential a range of residential dwelling types and 
densities shall be permitted, including single detached, semi-detached, duplex dwellings, 
triplex dwellings, townhouse dwellings and apartment dwellings (4.2.1(a)). 
 
The Municipal policies for “Natural Heritage” are triggered when development, which includes 
lot creation, are proposed within 120 metres of a feature. The proposed severance would not 
trigger this policy review. 
 
The subject lands are zoned a site-specific Open Space Zone 2 (OS2-85) in the Township of 
Yarmouth By-law No. 1998. The zone permits rural-residential use and only one single-
detached dwelling on a rural residential lot. There is a minimum required lot area of 5 
hectares and a minimum lot frontage of 100 feet. As the severed lot would be covered by this 
site-specific zone, a zoning by-law amendment will be required to place the property in an R1 
zone standard. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application for consent is consistent with both the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement and 
complies with the County of Elgin Official Plan regarding lot creation in settlement areas. As 
such, Staff is of the opinion that the application is acceptable from a planning perspective and 
recommends approval subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 

of Elgin.  
2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of registered deed for the severed parcel once 

completed. 
3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 

final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County Planning. 
 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Central 
Elgin be included as conditions for consent: 

 
1. Approval of a Zoning By-law Amendment to place the severed lot in a R1 zone; 
 
2. The applicant enters into an agreement with the Municipality of Central Elgin to address 

administrative, technical and financial matters relative to the development of the subject 
lands; 

 
3. The payment of cash-in-lieu of the dedication of 5% of the land for parkland purposes; 

and 
 
4. a copy of the reference plan be provided to the Municipality of Central Elgin. 



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION NO.  E 10-22 

LOT 13 PT LT 12 BLK 0 
MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON DUNWICH 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 9590 CURRIE ROAD 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Mark Currelley, 9590 Currie 
Road, Wallacetown ON N0L 2M0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning 
Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 9590 Currie Road, 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich.   

The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 25.15 metres (82.51 feet) 
along St. Andrews Street by a depth of 35.81 metres (117.49 feet) and an area of 0.81 
hectares (0.22 acres) to create a residential lot. The applicants are retaining 0.81 
hectares (0.22 acres) containing a residence and a shed, proposed to remain in 
residential use. 

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

WEDNESDAY March 23, 2022 AT 9:20 AM. 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

 Council Chambers, County Municipal Offices, 450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE NOTE: YOUR PARTICIPATION BY VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE IS 
PREFERRED.  

DUE TO PROVINCIAL ORDERS, ATTENDANCE IN PERSON MAY BE 
RESTRICTED. PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS 
BEFORE THE MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR 
TELELPHONE INFORMATION, OR TO CONFIRM IF IN PERSON ATTENDANCE IS 
POSSIBLE. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 15th day of February, 2022. 

 Julie Gonyou  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynatrue.com







  COUNCIL RESOLUTION  
 

    Res:  2022.07. ___       
Wednesday, March 9, 2022 

 
 
Moved by:   _____Hentz_______________________________ 
 
Seconded by:    ___Loveland_________________________________ 
 
 
THAT the Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich recommends approval to the 
Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin for proposed severance application 
E10/22 for 9590 Currie Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich, provided the following 
conditions are included: 

a) That a minor variance application is in force and effect for the severed and 
retained parcels; 

b) That septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed; 
c) That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed; 
d) That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has 

been provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created residential 
lot; 

e) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have 
been provided to the Municipality; 

f) That taxes are to be paid in full; 
g) That a new 911 number be established for the severed and retained parcels; 
h) That all Dutton Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-law, 

be paid to the Municipality; 
i) Proof of water service, to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 
j) Proof of access, to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 
k) Park land fee be paid for the new residential lot;  
l) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for 

the severed parcel, once the transaction has occurred, will be provided to the 
Municipality; 

m) That a lot grading plan be provided to the satisfaction of the Municipal CBO; and 
n) That proof of septic system design be provided to the Municipality subject to 

CBO approval. 
        

CARRIED:  
 
 
___________________ 

Mayor 
 
DEFEATED:                
 
 
___________________ 

Mayor 

Recorded Vote Yeas Nays 
 
P. Corneil  _x__ ____ 

A. Drouillard  _x__ ____ 

K. Loveland  _x__ ____ 

M. Hentz  _x__ ____ 

B. Purcell – Mayor _x__ ____ 

19 



1 
 

 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM: Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP, Planner 

DATE: March 9, 2022 

SUBJECT: Application for Severance (E10/22), 9590 Currie Road, Municipality of 
Dutton Dunwich – Mark Currelley 

RECOMMENDATION:  
 
THAT Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich recommends APPROVAL to the 
Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin for proposed severance application 
E10/22 for 9590 Currie Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich, provided the following 
conditions are included: 
 

a) That a minor variance application is in force and effect for the severed and 
retained parcels; 

b) That septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed; 
c) That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed; 
d) That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has 

been provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created 
residential lot; 

e) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey 
have been provided to the Municipality;  

f) That taxes are to be paid in full;  
g) That a new 911 number be established for the severed or retained parcels; 
h) That all Dutton Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-law, 

be paid to the Municipality;  
i) Proof of water service, to the satisfaction of the Municipality;  
j) Proof of access, to the satisfaction of the Municipality; 
k) Park land fee be paid for the new residential lot; and 
l) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for 

the severed parcel, once the transaction has occurred, will be provided to the 
Municipality. 

  



2 
 

FOR INFORMATION: 

Reasons for and Nature of the Application 

A severance application was submitted to the County of Elgin Land Division Committee 
(E10/22) by Mark Currelley, the owner of the subject property.   
 
The owner is requesting the severance of a new residential lot from a parcel of land. 
 
The subject parcel is legally described as Plan 44 Block O, Lot 13, Part Lot 12, Part 2 on 
11R-2036, and locally known as 9590 Currie Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich (see 
attached Key Map). 
 
The parcel is a corner lot located on the east side of Currie Road and the north side of 
St. Andrews Street in the settlement area of Wallacetown.  The lot has an existing 
driveway access from St. Andrews Street. 
 
The proposed severed parcel will have an area of 900.578 m2, depth of 35.814 m and 
frontage of 25.146 m. The proposed severed parcel is currently vacant and proposed for 
residential use with access to municipal water and private septic services.  The proposed 
access is from St. Andrews Street (see attached Sketch). 
 
The proposed retained parcel will have an area of 900.578 m2, depth of 35.814 m and 
frontage of 25.146 m.  The proposed retained land is used for existing residential use with 
1 single detached dwelling and 1 accessory structure with access to municipal water and 
private septic services (see attached Sketch). 
 
Residential uses surround the subject lands.    
 
It should be noted that there is an error in the LDC notice as it relates to the retained lands 
remaining agriculture.  This should say residential.  There is also an error as it relates to 
the description of the severed and retained parcel (refer to the description above).   
 
The proposed severance application was circulated to municipal staff (see attached 
Comments). 

Planning Policy Review 

Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) 
Under Section 3(5) of the Planning Act, the Municipality “shall be consistent with” matters 
of provincial interest as set out in the Provincial Policy Statements, 2020.  
 
Healthy, liveable and safe communities are sustained by a) promoting efficient 
development and land use patterns which sustain the financial well-being of the Province 
and municipalities over the long term (1.1.1). 
 
Settlement areas shall be the focus of growth and development (1.1.3.2). 



3 
 

Comment: The proposed severance application is consistent with the PPS. 
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The subject lands are designated Tier 2 Settlement Area on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use of the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (COP). 
 
Limited development is permitted in these settlement areas given the absence of full 
municipal services.  
 
Development on partial services is permitted to allow for infilling and rounding out of 
existing development provided that: a) the proposed development is within the reserve 
sewage system capacity and reserve water system capacity; and b) site conditions are 
suitable for long-term provision of such services (B2.5). 
 
Comment:  The proposed severance conforms to the COP. 
 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Official Plan  
The subject lands are designated Hamlet on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use Plan of the Dutton 
Dunwich Official Plan (OP). 
 
It is intended that future development will be in keeping with the existing scale and 
character of development, primarily of an infilling nature or as a logical extension to 
existing development within the ‘Hamlet’ designation as they existed at the date of 
approval of this Plan (7.4.3 b).  
 
The primary use of land shall be for low-density residential purposes. Also permitted will 
be uses accessory to residential uses including home occupations. The Zoning By-law 
will specify and regulate the actual uses permitted (7.4.3 c).   
 
The division of land will only be permitted if the proposed lots conform to the policies of 
this Plan and comply with the provisions of the Zoning By-law which shall establish 
minimum lot frontages and areas in accordance with Provincial, County, and municipal 
requirements established at the time of approval of this Plan (8.3.1 b).  
 
Comments: The proposed severance application conforms to the OP. 
 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law 
In the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-Law 2004-24 (ZBL), the 
subject lands are zoned Hamlet Residential (HR) Zone on Map 1, Schedule `C`. 
 
Permitted uses in the HR zone include one single detached dwelling on one lot, one 
converted dwelling on one lot, and home occupations (11.1.1). 
 
  



4 
 

An evaluation of the HR Zone regulations has been completed, as follows. 
 
Regulations 
 

Requirement 
HR Zone 
(Section 11) 

Proposed 
Severed 
(vacant lot) 

Proposed 
Retained 
(existing 
dwelling) 

Compliance 

Min. Lot Area 1,000 m2 900.578 m2 900.578 m2 Relief 
Required 

Min. Lot Frontage 25.0 m 25.146 m 25.146 m Complies 
Max. Lot 
Coverage 

30 % 23.78 %  
 
(max 267.09 
m2, 211.726 
m2 
proposed) 

11.38 % 
 
(existing 
house 
101.12 m2) 

Complies 

Max. Building 
Height 

10.5 m TBD 1.5 storey Complies 

Min. Floor Area a) For a single unit 
detached dwelling: 90 
m² 
 
b) For each dwelling 
unit in a converted 
dwelling: 90 m² 

211.73 m2 101.12 m2 Complies 

Min. Front Yard 
Depth 

6.0 m 6.0 m (existing) Complies 

Min. Side Yard 
Depth 

Single-unit detached 
dwelling with or 
without attached 
garage or carport: 2 m 
on one side 
and 3 m on the other 
side 
 
Single-unit detached 
dwelling situated on a 
corner lot: 4.5m on the 
side abutting a public 
street and 2.0 m on 
the other side 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 m  
 
9.75 m 

2.4 m 
 
12.246 m 

Complies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Complies 
 

Min. Rear Yard 
Depth 

9.0 m 15.5 m (existing) Complies 

Min. Parking One (1) parking space 
per unit 

1 1 Complies 

 



5 
 

Comments: The proposed severance application shall comply with the permitted uses 
and all regulations, except minimum lot area, as set out in the ZBL. 
 
As a condition of severance, a minor variance will be required to obtain relief from Section 
11.1.2 to reduce the minimum lot area from 1,000 m2 to 900.578 m2 for both the retained 
and severance lands. 
 
All other HR zone requirements can be met. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
 
The subject parcel is appropriate for the proposed severance.  It provides an opportunity 
for infill and intensification.  The reduction in the minimum lot area is minor and all other 
HR Zone requirements can be met. 
 
Administration proposes that Council recommends approval to the Land Division 
Committee for the proposed severance application with conditions. 
 
The conditions will be forwarded to the Land Division for a final decision.   
 
Once a decision is made, notices will be sent by the County of Elgin to those who have 
requested a copy and/or attended the public meeting.   
 
There will be a 20 day appeal period after the notices are mailed out.  Any appeals 
received will be forwarded to the Ontario Land Tribunal (OLT) for a hearing. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted    
 
Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP    
Planner   
 
 
Approved for Submission  
 
Heather Bouw  
CAO/Clerk 
  



6 
 

KEY MAP 

 

SKETCH 

  



From: Jackie Morgan-Beunen
To: Tracey Pillon-Abbs
Subject: RE: Notice of Application - E 10-22 - Request for Agency Review
Date: March-03-22 12:09:12 PM
Attachments: image005.png

image008.png
image009.png
image010.png

Hi Tracey.

An inspection of the existing system for the house that is remaining is required by myself.  The
licensed installer will be required to attend the site and uncover the tank and locate the area bed for
my review.  The fee for a septic inspection due to severance is $150.00.   With respect to the new
vacant lot, a grading plan will be required at time of permit for the new house and septic system.  If
you would like the park land fee to be collected at time of building permit, that is fine with me.

Thank you

Kind regards,

Jackie Morgan-Beunen,CBCO
Chief Building Official

199 Currie Road, Dutton, Ontario N0L 1J0
T  519.762.2204   F  519.762.2278
C 519.857.9605

The contents of this e-mail and any attachments are intended for the named recipient(s). This e-mail may
contain information that is privileged, confidential and/or exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If
you have received this message in error, are not the named recipient(s), or believe that you are not the
intended recipient immediately notify the sender and permanently delete this message without reviewing,
copying, forwarding, disclosing or otherwise using it or any part of it in any form whatsoever.

From: Tracey Pillon-Abbs <Planning@duttondunwich.on.ca> 
Sent: Thursday, March 3, 2022 11:53 AM
To: Murray Wickerson <mwickerson@duttondunwich.on.ca>; Dutton/Dunwich Building

mailto:JMorgan-Beunen@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:Planning@duttondunwich.on.ca






From: Brent Clutterbuck
To: Tracey Pillon-Abbs
Subject: Re: Notice of Application - E 10-22 - Request for Agency Review
Date: February-17-22 11:13:19 AM
Attachments: image002.png

image003.png
image004.png

Reapportionment of the Wallace Drain and the Wallacetown Drain

They will need to obtain a legal outlet under the Drainage Act for the properties

In reviewing the notice from the County I did some math on the lots sizes as they did not make
sense to me.

25.15m x 35.81m = 900.2 square meters /10000 meters in a hectare = 0.09ha

2.47 acres in a ha  so the lot size will be the severed lot will be .222 as stated on the notice

the notice goes on to say that the applicants are retaining 0.81 ha(0.22 acres)  0.81ha equals 2
acres

the application goes onto say that the retained lands are proposed to remain in agricultural
use?  Agricultural land at the corner of St. Andrew Street and Currie Road in the village of
Wallacetown.

Also I believe the house and shed being severed front onto St. Andrew Street?  The vacant
portion of the property fronts on either St. Andrew or Currie Road.

The key map shows the retained land is the property where the house and shed will be
located which is opposite to the wording on the notice is the opposite

Brent Clutterbuck
Drainage Superintendent
The Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich
199 Currie Road, P.O. Box 329
Dutton, Ontario N0L 1J0
 
Office 519-762-2204
Fax    519-762-2278
Email drainage@duttondunwich.on.ca

From: Tracey Pillon-Abbs <Planning@duttondunwich.on.ca>
Sent: February 17, 2022 9:40 AM

mailto:drainage@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:Planning@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:drainage@duttondunwich.on.ca





From: Tim Hansen
To: Tracey Pillon-Abbs; Archie Leitch; Brent Clutterbuck; Jackie Morgan-Beunen; Colin Shewell; Heather Bouw;

Murray Wickerson; Ryan McLeod; Tara Kretschmer
Subject: RE: Notice of Application - E 10-22 - Request for Agency Review
Date: February-23-22 4:32:18 PM
Attachments: image002.png

image003.png
image004.png

Tracey

Please note that there is NO watermain on St.Andrews St. This properties water service is fed off of
Currie rd and runs through the proposed severed parcel of land.
In order to provide a water service for each proposed property the owner would need to use the
existing water service for the proposed severed portion and then have the Municipality install a
second water service to which the owner would have to pay in full (connection fee, time and
material). This water service would be to service the existing house (retained portion) on this
property and would need to be ran on public property for some distance.

Thanks

TIM HANSEN
MUN. DUTTON/DUNWICH
WATER OPERATIONS MANAGER
Cell – 519-933-6483
Email – thansen@duttondunwich.on.ca

mailto:timhansen@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:Planning@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:aleitch@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:drainage@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:JMorgan-Beunen@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:firechief@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:HeatherBouw@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:mwickerson@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:rmcleod@duttondunwich.on.ca
mailto:TKretschmer@duttondunwich.on.ca





 

 
 
 

February 28, 2022 
 
 
 
County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St Thomas, ON   N5R 5V1 
 
Attn: Brian Lima 
 
Re: Consent Application (E 10-22) 

9590 Currie Road 
 Part Lot 12; Lot 13, Plan 44 
 Community of Wallacetown 
 Municipality of Dutton Dunwich 
 
Please be advised that the above mentioned application has been reviewed by this office and staff have no 
objections to this proposal.  The Conservation Authority is responsible for addressing the Natural Hazard Section 
of the Provincial Planning Policy Statement as well as the Conservation Authority’s Development, Interference 
with Wetlands and Alterations to Shorelines and Watercourses Regulation, O. Reg. 152/06 under the 
Conservation Authorities Act.  After reviewing our files and mapping, staff determined that the area is not subject 
to the Authority’s regulations.    
 
The lands are not subject to flooding of a general nature and therefore the flood proofing of structures on the 
property is not required.  However, the flood proofing of structures for the purposes of prevention of flood 
damage from local drainage waters is always recommended.   

 
I trust this is satisfactory, but if you should have any questions, or require more information, please call the office. 
 
Yours truly 

 
Connor Wilson 
Planning Technician 



COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 

DATE: March 16, 2022 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.: 8 - 9590 Currie Road 

TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE:   
APPLICATION NO.: E 10-22 
OWNER: Mark Currelley 
PROPERTY: LOT NO. LOT 13 PT LT 12 BLK 0 CONCESSION: 

REG’D PLAN: MUNICIPALITY: Dutton Dunwich 

The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 

  [Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the 
frontage  of the severed lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Currie Road County Road (8) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  
All costs to be borne by the owner.  

X 

2) A one-foot reserve is required along the N__________,
S__________, E_________ and/or W__________ property line …………………..…………... 

3)  Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….……………… 

4)  A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act  * (By Professional Engineer)….… 

5)  A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….………….. 

6) Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne
by the owner.   Discharge of water to the County road allowance is
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

  X 

7)  Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………... 

8) That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance
to the severed and/or retained parcels.  All costs associated with this shall be borne by the
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

 X 

9)  Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...………………… X 

10) The County has no concerns……………………………………………………………………….. 

11) Not on County Road …………………………………………………………………………………. 

12)  Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….……………… 

13) Other…

Note:  These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 
amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

______________________________________ 
BRIAN LIMA, P. ENG. 
GENERAL MANAGER OF ENGINEERING, 
PLANNING & ENTERPRISE / DEPUTY CAO 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From: St. Thomas Planning & Building Department  
Date:   March 23, 2022   
Application:  E 10-22 

 
 
 Owner:  Mark Currelley 
 9590 Currie Road, Wallacetown ON N0L 2M0 
 

Location: 9590 Currie Road, Lot 13 Pt Lt 12 Blk 0, R.P. 44, Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicants propose to sever a vacant parcel with frontage of 25.15 metres (82.51 feet) 
along St. Andrews Street by a depth of 35.81 metres (117.49 feet) and an area of 0.81 
hectares (0.22 acres) for residential building lot. The applicants are retaining 0.81 hectares 
(0.22 acres), containing a residence and a shed, proposed to remain in residential use. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Settlement Area Tier 2 Hamlet Hamlet Residential (HR) 
 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich – Planning Staff’s opinion is that the proposed lot creation by 
consent, would appear to be consistent with the PPS, conforms to the County of Elgin Official 
Plan and conforms to the Municipality’s Official Plan, complies with the zoning by-law 
(subject to relief through a minor variance of zoning by-law amendment); and that Council 
recommends to the County of Elgin that the consent be approved, subject to the lower-tier 
municipal conditions listed in the report. 

 
County Engineering – Property is located on a County Road, proposed conditions are listed 
in the report.  
 
Lower Thames Conservation Authority (LTCA)– The (LTCA) had no concerns with the above 
noted application. Specific comments provided through separate letter. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

  
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement  
In considering this application, staff must have regard to matters of Provincial Interest in 
accordance with Section 2 of the Planning Act (PA), and subdivision criteria in accordance 
with Section 51(24) of the PA. 
 
The application shall also be consistent with the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement (PPS). 
Policy 1.1.3 (Settlement Areas) outlines that settlement areas including cities, towns, villages 
and hamlets, are to be the focus of growth and development within municipalities. 
Specifically, Policy 1.1.3.2 outlines that land use patterns within these settlement areas shall 
be based on densities and a mix of land uses which efficiently use land and resources. 
 
The applicants propose to retain vacant land for future rural residential use and sever the 
existing residential use on the severed lands on the subject site.  

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The settlement areas in the County are divided into three tiers based on their scale, function, 
and the level of services that exist in each settlement. The subject site is designated 
Settlement Area Tier 2 in the Elgin County Official Plan (OP). The second tier includes those 
settlement areas which are generally smaller than Tier 1 settlement areas and are on partial 
services. Limited development is permitted in these areas given the absence of full services. 
Development on partial services is permitted for infilling and rounding out subject to the 
proposal being withing the reserve capacity of the municipal system and site conditions being 
suitable for the long-term provision of the required services. 
 
Section E.1.2.3.1 General Criteria outlines that consents may be supported subject to the 
application not creating any new traffic issues or hazards with appropriate access; the 
proposed retained and severed lots being appropriately sized in accordance with the local 
zoning by-law and, if not, a Planning Act application to address minimum lot area regulations 
in accordance with the Zoning By-law; all other regulations of the Zoning By-law can be met; 
appropriate servicing exists; and the application will not have any adverse impacts on 
drainage, development of the retained lands, natural heritage or natural hazards. Planning 
staff is satisfied there will be no adverse impacts as a result of this lot creation. 

 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
The subject lands are designated "Hamlet" on Schedule 'A' Land Use Plan, of the 
Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich Official Plan. The lands are zoned Hamlet (HR) within the 
Municipality’s Zoning By-law. 
 
The severed and retained lots will be slightly deficient in lot area (900.6m2 proposed whereas 
1000m2 feet) required) and will need relief to the Zoning By-law by way of a Minor Variance. 
Staff at the Municipality appear to support this approach. 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application for consent is consistent with the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement and 
complies with the County of Elgin Official Plan and the Dutton/Dunwich Official Plan 
regarding lot creation in settlement areas. As such, Staff is of the opinion that the application 
is acceptable from a planning perspective and recommends approval subject to the following 
conditions: 
 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 
County of Elgin. 

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of registered deed for the severed parcel 
once completed. 

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, 
prior to final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County Planning. 

4. That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage of the severed lot/parcel up to 15m 
from the centreline of construction of Currie Road County Road (8) to the County of 
Elgin for the purposes of road widening if the right of ways is not already to that 
width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. All costs to be borne by the owner. 

5. Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer. All costs to be 
borne by the owner. Discharge of water to the County Road allowance is prohibited. 

6. That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new 
entrance to the severed and/or retained parcels. All costs associated with this shall 
be borne by the owner. 

7. Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot. 
 

Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of 
Dutton/Dunwich be included as conditions for consent: 
 

1. That a minor variance application is in force and effect for the severed and retained 
parcels. 

2. That septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed. 
3. That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed. 
4. That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has been 

provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created residential lot. 
5. That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have been 

provided to the Municipality. 
6. That taxes are to be paid in full. 
7. That a new 911 number be established for the severed and retained parcels. 
8. That all Dutton Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-law, be 

paid to the Municipality. 
9. Proof of water service, to the satisfaction of the Municipality. 
10. Proof of access, to the satisfaction of the Municipality. 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

11. Park land fee be paid for the new residential lot. 
12. That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for the 

severed parcel, once the transaction has occurred, will be provided to the 
Municipality. 

13. That a lot grading plan be provided to the satisfaction of the Municipal CBO. 
14. That proof of septic system design be provided to the Municipality subject to CBO 

approval. 



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION NO.  E 11-22 

LOT 24, CONCESSION 3 
TOWNSHIP OF MALAHIDE 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 51553 CALTON LINE 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by David & Mary Thiessen, 51631 
Calton Line, Aylmer, ON N5H 2R3for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning 
Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 51553 Calton Line, 
Township of Malahide.   

The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 12.0 metres (39.37 feet) 
along Calton Line by a depth of 239.0 metres (784.12 feet) and an area of 2.91 hectares 
(7.2 acres) to be conveyed to the adjacent property. The applicants are retaining 35.61 
hectares (88.0 acres), proposed to remain in agricultural use. 

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

WEDNESDAY March 23, 2022 AT 9:30 AM. 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

 Council Chambers, County Municipal Offices, 450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE NOTE: YOUR PARTICIPATION BY VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE IS 
PREFERRED.  

DUE TO PROVINCIAL ORDERS, ATTENDANCE IN PERSON MAY BE 
RESTRICTED. PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS 
BEFORE THE MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR 
TELELPHONE INFORMATION, OR TO CONFIRM IF IN PERSON ATTENDANCE IS 
POSSIBLE. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Ontario Land 
Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Ontario Land Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 15th day of February, 2022. 

 Julie Gonyou  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynatrue.com







 
Report to Council 

 
 
REPORT NO.: DS-22-13 
DATE:   March 11, 2022 
ATTACHMENT: Report Photo, Application, Recommended Conditions 
SUBJECT:  Application for Consent to Sever of David and Mary Thiessen, 

(Authorized Agent: David Roe c/o Civic Planning Solutions Inc) 
LOCATION:  North Part of Lot 24, Concession 3, Part 2 and Part of Part 3 RP 

11R5617, Former Geographic Township of Malahide, Township of 
Malahide, (51553 Calton Line) 

 
 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Report No. entitled “Application for Consent to Sever of David and Mary 
Thiessen” be received;  
 
AND THAT the Application for Consent to Sever of David and Mary Thiessen, 
relating to the property located at North Part of Lot 24, Concession 3, Part 2 and 
Part of Part 3 RP 11R5617, Former Geographic Township of Malahide, Township 
of Malahide, and known municipally as 51553 Calton Line, be supported for the 
reasons set out in this Report;  
 
AND THAT this report and the recommended conditions be forwarded to the Land 
Division Committee for its review and consideration. 
 
Background: 
 
The subject application for Consent to Sever (the “Application”) has been submitted by 
David Roe c/o Civic Planning Solutions Inc., on behalf of David and Mary Thiessen in 
order to covey a vacant, irregularly-shaped parcel and add it (merge in the same name 
and title) to the abutting lot occupied by and existing industrial use (Creative 
Enterprises) known municipally as 51631 Calton Line.  
 
The Application relates to the property located at North Part of Lot 24, Concession 3, 
Part 2 and Part of Part 3 RP 11R5617, Former Geographic Township of Malahide, 
Township of Malahide, and known municipally as 51553 Calton Line. 



The lands were previously the subject of an amendment to the Township of Malahide 
Official Plan and an amendment to the Zoning By-law in 2020-2021. The applications 
were considered at a public meeting held on November 5, 2020. Official Plan 
Amendment No. 19 was adopted by Council on December 17, 2020 and subsequently 
approved by the County of Elgin on February 23, 2021. The proposed Zoning By-law 
amendment was tabled pending approval of OPA 19 and the granting of consent. 
 
OPA 19 establishes the application of a special land use designation (“Specific Policy 
Area No. 12”) which applies to the existing lot occupied by an industrial use (Creative 
Enterprises) as well as the lands proposed to be severed by Application for Consent E 
11-22. 
 
The County Land Division Committee has scheduled a Public Hearing for this 
application to be considered on March 23, 2022. 
 
Comments/Analysis: 
 
The existing lot occupied by Creative Enterprises (51631 Calton Line) comprises an 
area of 3.3 hectares (8.2 acres), a frontage of 205 metres (673 ft) on Calton Line and a 
depth of 163 metres (535 ft). The area of the parcel proposed to be conveyed and 
merged in title with the existing lot comprises 2.9 hectares (7.2 acres).The enlarged 
parcel would comprise, in total, an area of approximately 6.2 hectares (15.4 ac), a 
frontage of approximately 216 metres (709 ft) on Calton Line and a depth of 
approximately 243 metres (797 ft). The existing lot is occupied by various buildings and 
structures and open storage associated with an established industrial use (Creative 
Enterprises) engaged primarily in the manufacturing of concrete mixer drums and 
agricultural processing equipment. The conveyed parcel is devoid of buildings and 
structures and comprises agricultural land. 

As originally proposed in 2020, Creative Enterprises is proposing to construct a new 
manufacturing building and related open storage on the parcel of land proposed to be 
conveyed and added to the existing lot (Figure 1). The new building would comprise a 
floor area of 4,459 sq m (48,000 sq ft). The plant on the existing lot would be increased 
in size from 6,549 sq m (70,500 sq ft) to 8,606 sq m (92,640 sq ft). The total building 
area of the site at build-out would be substantial - - in the order of 13,065 sq m (140,640 
sq ft). A site plan has been filed showing the location of the new building, the addition to 
the existing building along with all associated outside storage areas. 
 
The lands proposed to be retained comprise an area of approximately 35.6 hectares (88 
ac), a depth of approximately 1,017 metres (3,337 ft) and a frontage of approximately 
98 metres (322 ft). The parcel is in agricultural use and is occupied by a single unit 
dwelling and an accessory building described as a garage/shop. A change in use is not 
proposed. 
 
Neighbouring lands are predominantly used for agricultural purposes (cash crop). Rural 
residential development is scattered in the area, with the largest residential 
concentrations lying to the west of the subject lands in the Hamlet of Mount Salem. 
 
 
 



County of Elgin Official Plan 
 
The subject property is designated ‘Agriculture Area’ on Schedule ‘A’, Land Use Plan, 
and the southern portion contains ‘Woodlands’ on Appendix 1, Environmental Resource 
Areas. The subject property has no noted areas on Schedule ‘C’ (Aggregate and 
Petroleum Resources) of the County Official Plan. In addition, the subject property is 
identified as having frontage along a ‘County Minor Arterial road on Schedule ‘B’, 
“Transportation Plan”. 
 

Malahide Official Plan 
 

The lands proposed to be conveyed, and the existing lot to which they are being added 
to, are designated ‘Specific Policy Area 12’ (as amended by OPA 19). The lands 
proposed to be retained are designated, for the most part. ‘Agriculture’. The southerly 
portion pf the parcel occupied by the aforementioned woodlot is identified as ‘Natural 
Heritage’ on Schedule ‘A1’ (Land Use Plan) and ‘Provincially Significant Woodlands’ on 
Schedule ‘A2’ (Constraints Plan). 
 
Specific Policy Area No. 12 (refer below) permits the development and zoning of the 
subject lands for industrial purposes and contemplates that a consent may be granted 
to permit the enlargement of lands occupied by Creative Enterprises provided no new 
lot is created. As part of the Zoning By-law amendment, the application of a holding 
(“H”) symbol applied with its removal contingent upon a site plan agreement 

 

“3.8.12 Specific Policy Area No. 12 

 The lands situated on the south side of Calton Line (County Road No. 45), 
west of Sawmill Road in Part of Lot 24, Concession III in the geographic 
Township of Malahide, and designated “Specific Policy Area” on Schedule 
‘A’, may be used, developed and zoned for industrial purposes. A consent 
may be granted to permit the enlargement of lands occupied by Creative 
Enterprises where no new lot is created. The parcel so designated will be 
subject to an amendment to the Township’s Zoning By-law and the holding 
(“H”) symbol applied with its removal contingent upon a site plan 
agreement being entered into. The owner shall be responsible for ensuring 
that all studies deemed necessary to identify and mitigate any impacts 
arising from the industrial expansion are provided to the satisfaction of the 
Township.” 

 
The application for consent and the proposed expansion of the existing industrial use is 
considered to be in conformity with these policies. 
 

Malahide Zoning By-law No. 18-22 
 
The lands proposed to be severed are zoned General Agricultural (A1) on Schedule ‘A’, 
Map No. 84 in the Township’s Zoning By-law No. 22-18. The existing lot occupied by 
Creative Enterprises (to which the severed parcel will be added) is zoned Farm 
Industrial (M3). 
 
 



 
In instances where lot additions are approved, the Township has generally required that 
the two merging parcels have consistent zoning which applies throughout. Permitted 
uses of the M3 zone are listed as follows: 

 

 USES, BUILDINGS & 
STRUCTURES M3 

1 abattoir  ✓ 

2 agricultural sales establishment ✓ 

4 animal hospital ✓ 

13 dwelling unit as an accessory use ✓ 

15 farm equipment sales & service ✓ 

16 farm fuel sales ✓ 

17 feed mill ✓ 

18 fertilizer plant ✓ 

19 food processing plant ✓ 

21 grain handling facility ✓ 

23 livestock marketing yard ✓ 

30 outside storage ✓ 

34 sawmill ✓ 

35 service shop ✓ 

   

 

An “industrial use” is not a permitted use in the M3 zone. Such a use is defined as 
follows:  

2.102 INDUSTRIAL USE 

shall mean the use of land, buildings or structures or combination thereof for 
the purpose of manufacturing, assembling, making, preparing, inspecting, 
ornamenting, finishing, treating, altering, repairing, distributing, warehousing, 
storing or adapting for sale any goods, substance, article or thing, including 
the storage of building and construction equipment and materials. 

A ‘site-specific’ Farm Industrial (M3-#) zoning for both the existing lot and the parcel to 
be added is considered appropriate under the circumstances, and would recognize and 
permit an industrial use as well as all other permitted uses of the M3 zone. In addition, it 
would recognize a deficiency with respect to side yard width on the east side of the 

ZONES 
M1 GENERAL INDUSTRIAL  
M2 FARM INDUSTRIAL  
M3 RURAL INDUSTRIAL  
  



property (i.e. 8.62 m vs 15 m). Once the lot is enlarged, it forfeits its “existing” lot status 
in the Zoning By-law and the By-law does not contain a “forgiveness” provision for 
instances such as this. 

The lands proposed to be retained are capable of satisfying the minimum lot area 
requirement (20 ha) of the A1 zone but would have considerably less the minimum lot 
frontage requirement (i.e. 98 m vs 150 m). In addition, the shop/garage on the retained 
parcel has a side yard of 3.67 m vs 5 m required in the by-law 

The “holding” provisions of the Zoning By-law (Section 3.3) are applicable and 
considered appropriate: 

a) H-1 Services, Agreements, Site Plan Approvals  
To ensure the orderly development of lands and the adequate provision of 
municipal services, the required security shall be provided for the development 
agreement or subdivision agreement, and Council shall be satisfied that the 
conditions of the approval of the plans and drawings for a site plan, or the 
conditions of the approval of a draft plan of subdivision, ensure a development 
agreement or subdivision agreement is executed by the applicant and the 
Township, prior to the removal of the "H-1" symbol. 

 

Removal of the “holding” symbol would be contingent upon the entering into a site plan 
agreement as noted above and as noted in the approved Specific Policy Area No. 12 

 
General Comments 
 
The Township’s consulting planner notes that planning justification for an amendment to 
the Official Plan and Zoning By-law for the proposed industrial expansion and 
corresponding lot enlargement was previously provided and accepted by both the 
County of Elgin and the Township of Malahide. The removal of a relatively small amount 
of farmland from production must be weighed against the suitability of, and continued 
use of, the subject site for industrial purposes and the increased potential for land use 
conflicts in the event Creative Enterprises was to locate a comparably-sized facility 
elsewhere in the Municipality in a ‘prime agricultural area’.  

The County Land Division Committee should be satisfied that the standard conditions 
for a lot addition are imposed for the County’s conditions (That the lands being 
conveyed be merged in the same name and title as the lands to which they are being 
added to, and that Section 50(3) of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as amended, shall 
apply to any future transactions or conveyances on the subject lands). 

 

Financial Implications to Budget:  
 
The full cost of the consent and associated zoning by-law amendment and site plan 
approval process is at the expense of the Applicant and has no implications to the 
Township’s Operating Budget. 



 
Relationship to Cultivating Malahide: 
 
The Cultivating Malahide Integrated Community Sustainability Plan (ICSP) is based 
upon four pillars of sustainability:  Our Land, Our Economy, Our Community, and Our 
Government. 
 
One of the goals that supports the “Our Land” Strategic Pillar is “Promote growth in a 
responsible manner”. By promoting new development and directing growth to 
appropriate areas within the Township through its support of this proposal, the Council 
is achieving this goal. 
 
 
 
 
Submitted by: Reviewed and Approved by: 
 
Dan Smith, MA 
Monteith Brown Planning Consultants, 
Consulting Planner for the Township 

 
Adam Betteridge, MCIP, RPP 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 
 
 
 
 



35.6Ha

2.9 HaA1

CALTON LINE

M3

RRRR

A1A1A1

A1

A1 A1

A1

RR

RR

A1

A1

LOT 25
CON 4

LOT 23
CON 3

LOT 24
CON 3

LOT 24 CON 4LOT
23 CON 4

LOT 25
CON 3

51553 Calton Line
Lot 24, Concession 3
Township of Malahide

APPLICATION FOR A CONSENT TO SEVER
David and Mary Thiessen (Authorized Agent: David Roe
c/o Civic Planning Solutions)

Township
of Malahide

Figure 1

±

272.1m

204.3m

55.3m

12.3m

80
.7

m

17
5.

7m

16
3m

68
m

A1

LOT 25
CON 4

LOT 24
CON 3

LOT 24 CON 4

LOT 25
CON 3

CALTON LINE

M3

RR

A1A1A1

A1

A1

OFFICIAL PLAN DESIGNATION
Agriculture
Specific Policy Area 12
ZONING
A1 General Agricultural
M3 Farm Industrial

0 100 20050

Meters

Severed

Retained

Lands to which the severed lot will
be conveyed as a lot addition

0 100 20050

Meters



1. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering costs associated 
with the preparation of a revised assessment schedule in accordance with the 
Drainage Act, RSO 1990, as amended, with a deposit to be paid in full to the 
township prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. If the deposit does not cover 
the costs of the revised assessment schedule, the applicant will be billed for any 
additional costs incurred. 
 

2. That the applicants initiate and assume all planning costs associated with the 
required Zoning Amendment or other land use planning process as required in 
accordance with the Ontario Planning Act, RSO 1990, with such cost to be paid in 
full to the Township and that the required process be successfully completed prior to 
the condition being deemed fulfilled. 

 
3. That all outstanding work orders or by-law enforcement issues be resolved to the 

satisfaction of the Chief Building Official prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. 
 

4. That the necessary deeds, transfers and charges for certificates and/or instruments 
necessary for registration be submitted in triplicate prior to certification all of which 
are to be fully executed. 
 

5. That all applicable property taxes, municipal fees and charges be paid to the 
Municipality prior to the stamping of the deeds. 
 

6. That an electronic version of the reference plan be submitted to the satisfaction of 
the Municipality. 

 



From: Tony Difazio
To: Brian Lima
Subject: RE: Notice of Application - E 11-22 - Request for Agency Review
Date: February 22, 2022 10:50:24 AM
Attachments: image005.jpg

image006.jpg
image007.jpg
image008.jpg
image009.png
image010.png
image011.png

Hi Brian,
 
We (CCCA) have no concerns with the above noted Severance Application.
 
If you have any questions do not hesitate to contact me directly.
 
Regards,
 
Tony
 
 

 
Tony Difazio
Resource Planning Coordinator
8079 Springwater Road, R.R.#5,           
Aylmer ON. N5H 2R4
519-773-9037
planning@catfishcreek.ca
 
 
 

From: Brian Lima <blima@ELGIN.ca> 
Sent: February-16-22 3:51 PM
To: Allison Adams <AAdams@malahide.ca>; Adam Betteridge <ABetteridge@malahide.ca>; Christine
Strupat <CStrupat@malahide.ca>; Tony Difazio <planning@catfishcreek.ca>
Cc: creativedavt@gmail.com; David Roe <dfrfez@me.com>
Subject: Notice of Application - E 11-22 - Request for Agency Review
 
Good Afternoon,
 
Please find attached the Notice of Application for file number E 11-22 for the Elgin County Land
Division Committee meeting scheduled for March 23, 2022.
 

mailto:planning@catfishcreek.ca
mailto:blima@elgin.ca









If you wish to provide comments on this application please submit them to landdivision@elgin.ca, by
Monday, March 18, 2022 to be included in the agenda package and considered by the Land Division
Committee.
 
Thanks 
 
 
Brian Lima, P.Eng.
General Manager of Engineering, Planning & Enterprise / Deputy CAO

450 Sunset Drive
St. Thomas, ON. N5R 5V1
(519) 631-1460 ext. 117
blima@elgin.ca
www.elgincounty.ca

 

Notice: A number of Elgin County services are unavailable at this time due to the
evolving health situation (COVID-19). Please visit www.elgincounty.ca for daily
updates.

 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca
mailto:blima@elgin.ca
http://www.elgincounty.ca/
https://www.elgincounty.ca/


COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 
 
DATE: March 16, 2022 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.: 45 - 51553 Calton Line 
 
TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE:   
APPLICATION NO.: E 11-22 
OWNER: David & Mary Thiessen 
PROPERTY: LOT NO. 24 CONCESSION: 3 
 REG’D PLAN:  MUNICIPALITY: Malahide 
 
The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 
     [Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage  

of the severed and retained lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Calton Line County Road (45) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  
All costs to be borne by the owner.  

 
 

X 

  
2)  A one-foot reserve is required along the N__________,        

S__________, E_________ and/or W__________ property line …………………..…………...  
  
3)  Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….………………  
  
4)  A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act  * (By Professional Engineer)….…  
  
5)  A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….…………..  
  
6)  Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne 
by the owner.   Discharge of water to the County road allowance is 
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

 
   X 

  
7)  Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………...  
  
8)  That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance 
to the severed and/or retained parcels.  All costs associated with this shall be borne by the 
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

  X  

  
9)  Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...………………… X 
  
10) The County has no concerns………………………………………………………………………..  
  
11) Not on County Road ………………………………………………………………………………….  
  
12)  Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….………………  
  

13) Other…  
 
 
Note:  These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 

amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

 

          
______________________________________ 

 BRIAN LIMA, P. ENG. 
GENERAL MANAGER OF ENGINEERING, 
PLANNING & ENTERPRISE / DEPUTY CAO 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  St. Thomas Planning & Building Services Department 
Date:  March 16, 2022  
Application:  E 11-22 

 
 

Owner: Agent: 
David and Mary Thiessen 
51631 Calton Line, Aylmer, ON N5H 2R3 

David Roe 
61 Trailview Drive, Tillsonburg, ON N4G 0C6 
 

Location: 51553 Calton Line, North Part of Lot 24, Concession 3, Part 2 and Part of Part 3 
RP 11R5617, Former Geographic Township of Malahide, Township of Malahide. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to sever an irregularly shaped parcel of land (6.25 hectares) with 
12.34 metres of frontage at 51553 Calton Line and have it merge with the abutting lot at 
51631 Calton Line as a lot addition. The applicants are retaining 35.61 hectares of land to 
remain in agricultural use. 
 
The lands subject to the application for consent were subject to an amendment to the 
Township of Malahide Official Plan and Zoning By-law in late 2020, early 2021. The Official 
Plan amendment (OPA 19) has been approved by the County of Elgin, however, the zoning 
by-law amendment was deferred until OPA 19 was approved and the consent was granted. 
 
OPA 19 established a special land use designation for the existing industrial use at 51631 
Calton Line and the lands that are proposed to be added to the property through this 
application for consent. 
 
County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning 
By-law 

Agricultural Area Specific Policy Area 12 
 

General Agricultural (A1) 
and Industrial (M3) 
 

REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Township of Malahide  –  
 
The Township’s consulting planner notes that planning justification for an amendment to the 
Official Plan and Zoning By-law for the proposed industrial expansion and corresponding lot 
enlargement was previously provided and accepted by both the County of Elgin and the 
Township of Malahide. The removal of a relatively small amount of farmland from production 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

must be weighed against the suitability of, and continued use of, the subject site for industrial 
purposes and the increased potential for land use conflicts in the event Creative Enterprises 
was to locate a comparably sized facility elsewhere in the Municipality in a ‘prime agricultural 
area’.  
 
The County Land Division Committee should be satisfied that the standard conditions for a 
lot addition are imposed for the County’s conditions (That the lands being conveyed be 
merged in the same name and title as the lands to which they are being added to, and that 
Section 50(3) of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as amended, shall apply to any future 
transactions or conveyances on the subject lands). 
 
County Engineering – No comments. 
 
Catfish Creek Conservation Authority – No comments.  
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement (PPS)  
In considering this application, staff must have regard to matters of Provincial Interest in 
accordance with Section 2 of the Planning Act (PA), and subdivision criteria in accordance 
with Section 51(24) of the PA. 

 
The subject lands are within an Agricultural Area, however, it is subject to a “Specific Policy 
Area No. 12” in the Malahide Official Plan that permits the lands to be developed and zoned 
for industrial purposes. This designated area contains the existing lot of record at 51631 
Calton Line and the lands proposed to be severed from 51553 Calton Line through this 
application for consent. As such, this could be viewed as the expansion of a non-agricultural 
use in a prime agricultural area and Section 2.3.6.2 would apply. 
 
As the lands have already been designated for the proposed industrial use, and the lot 
addition would not be taking out any designated “agricultural” lands, it would appear to be in 
keeping with Section 2.3.6.2 with respect to mitigating the impacts of non-agricultural uses on 
surrounding agricultural operations to the extent feasible. 

 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The subject lands are within an Agricultural Area. Section C2 of the Official Plan recognizes 
agriculture as the primary activity and land use, however, it recognizes that certain lands 
outside of settlement areas have been designated for non-agricultural development by the 
lower tier Official Plans and these lands are deemed to not be within the prime agricultural 
area and are instead subject to the relevant policies of this Plan and the policies of the lower 
tier Official Plan. 
 
The lands to be conveyed and merged through this application are designated “Specific 
Policy Area No. 12” in the Township of Malahide Official Plan and permit “Industrial Use”. 
Policies for these types of uses are within settlement area section of the County of Elgin 
Official Plan and Section C1.1.3 would apply. Those policies include, among other things: 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

 
“c) encourage local municipalities to protect employment areas from land uses which may 
affect the continued viability of existing and future employment uses and their expansion in 
the future”. 
 
Subsection E1.2.3.2 contains policies on Boundary Adjustments. Those policies state that: 
 
“A consent may be permitted for the purpose of modifying lot boundaries, provided no new 
building lot is created. In reviewing an application for such a boundary adjustment, the 
approval authority shall be satisfied that the boundary adjustment will not affect the viability of 
the use of the properties affected as intended by this Plan. In addition, the approval authority 
shall be satisfied that the boundary adjustment will not affect the viability of the agricultural 
parcels affected.” 
 
There are also policies in Subsection E1.2 of the Plan that recognize the ability of the County 
or the lower tier municipality to require conditions for any consent application to address 
technical, financial and administrative matters. 
 
These policies are consistent with the direction of the PPS. It is staff’s opinion that the 
proposed severance complies with the County Official Plan policies. 

 
Township of Malahide Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
The subject lands that are proposed to be severed from 51553 Calton Line and to be merged 
with 51631 Calton Line are designated “Specific Policy Area No. 12” as amended by OPA 19. 
The retained lands are generally designated “Agriculture” and are intended to remain in 
agricultural use. 

 
These “Specific Policies” permit the proposed lot addition and enlargement and require that 
the Township’s Zoning By-law be amended, that a holding symbol is applied, and that a site 
plan agreement be entered into with the Municipality. 
 
The subject lands to be severed are zoned General Agricultural (A1) in the Townships By-law 
No. 22-18 while the existing lot of record where the industrial use operates (51631 Calton 
Line) is zoned Farm Industrial (M3). As has been provided by the Township, additional land 
use planning approvals will be required should the consent be granted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application for consent is consistent with both the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement and 
complies with the County of Elgin and Township of Malahide Official Plans, subject to the 
applicant obtaining a zoning by-law amendment and entering into a site plan agreement with 
the Township. As such, planning staff are of the opinion that the application is supportable 
from a planning perspective and recommends approval subject to the following conditions 
from the Land Division Committee in its decision from the County of Elgin: 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the 
County of Elgin; 
 

2. The severed land be merged in title with the abutting lot, legally described as Part of 
Lot 24, Concession 3, municipally known as 51631 Calton Line; and 

 
3. Solicitor Undertaking whereby they inform the Committee in writing, that the lands 

are being conveyed to an abutting property owner and thus a merger of title will take 
place, which merger shall include all interests held inclusive or mortgagee’s interest. 

 
Additionally, it is recommended that the following conditions from the Township of Malahide 
be included as conditions for consent: 
 

1. That the applicant initiate and assume, if required, all engineering costs associated 
with the preparation of a revised assessment schedule in accordance with the 
Drainage Act, RSO 1990, as amended, with a deposit to be paid in full to the 
township prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. If the deposit does not cover 
the costs of the revised assessment schedule, the applicant will be billed for any 
additional costs incurred. 

 
2. That the applicants initiate and assume all planning costs associated with the 

required Zoning Amendment or other land use planning process as required in 
accordance with the Ontario Planning Act, RSO 1990, with such cost to be paid in full 
to the Township and that the required process be successfully completed prior to the 
condition being deemed fulfilled. 

 
3. That all outstanding work orders or by-law enforcement issues be resolved to the 

satisfaction of the Chief Building Official prior to the condition being deemed fulfilled. 
 
4. That the necessary deeds, transfers and charges for certificates and/or instruments 

necessary for registration be submitted in triplicate prior to certification all of which 
are to be fully executed. 

 
5. That all applicable property taxes, municipal fees and charges be paid to the 

Municipality prior to the stamping of the deeds. 
 
6. That an electronic version of the reference plan be submitted to the satisfaction of the 

Municipality. 



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION NO.  E 71-21 

LOTS 6 AND 7, CONCESSION 5 N OF CON A DUNWICH 
MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON DUNWICH 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 11714 COYNE ROAD 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Barbara Farms Inc., 33812 
Fingal Line, Fingal ON N0L 1K0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning 
Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 11714 Coyne Road, 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich. 

The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 64 metres (209.974 feet) 
along Coyne Road by a depth of 106 metres (347.769 feet) and an area of 0.68 
hectares (1.68 acres) containing one residence and one small drive shed, surplus to the 
needs of the purchasing farmer. The applicants are retaining 40 hectares (98.84 acres) 
proposed to remain in agricultural use. 

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

WEDNESDAY MARCH 23, 2023 AT 9:40 AM. 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

 Council Chambers, County Municipal Offices, 450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE NOTE: YOUR PARTICIPATION BY VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE IS 
PREFERRED.  

DUE TO PROVINCIAL ORDERS, ATTENDANCE IN PERSON MAY BE 
RESTRICTED. PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS 
BEFORE THE MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR 
TELELPHONE INFORMATION, OR TO CONFIRM IF IN PERSON ATTENDANCE IS 
POSSIBLE. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee. This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Local Planning 
Appeal Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Local Planning Appeal Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 15th day of February, 2022. 

 Julie Gonyou  
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynatrue.com 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca


COYNE RD

HWY 4
01

GAE
LIC

 LI
NE

HW
Y 4

01

Elgin County, Maxar

Subject Site: 11714 Coyne Road
File Number: 71-2021
Owner: Barbara Farms Inc.
Planner: Nancy Pasato
Created By: AL
Date: 009/07/2021

Location Map ±

The Corporation of the County Elgin
Prepared By: Planning and Development

Legend

Subject Site

Severed

Retained

Elgin Road Network

Buildings
0 100 200

Meters

Retained

COYNE RD

GAE
LIC

 LI
NE

Maxar, Microsoft

Severed - Close Up

Retained

Severed
E 71-21

Severed
E 72-21

Severed



COYNE RD

HWY 4
01

GAE
LIC

 LI
NE

HW
Y 4

01

Subject Site: 11714 Coyne Road
File Number: 71-2021
Owner: Barbara Farms Inc.
Planner: Nancy Pasato
Created By: AL
Date: 009/07/2021

Location Map ±

The Corporation of the County Elgin
Prepared By: Planning and Development

Legend

Subject Site

Severed

Retained

Elgin Road Network

Buildings
0 100 200

Meters

Retained

COYNE RD

GAE
LIC

 LI
NE

Severed - Close Up

Retained

Severed
E 71-21

Severed
E 72-21

Severed

























PROPERTY TAX HISTORY Page: 1

MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON/DUNWICHTreasurer's Office: Account as of: 09/29/2021
199 CURRIE ROAD
DUTTON, ON  N0L 1J0

(519) 762-2204Office Phone:
Toll Free:

PROPERTY OWNER PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
HODDER ROBERT NORMAN 34-29-000-003-06300-0000

99.50
DEPTH:

ACREAGE:
FRONTAGE:

11552 COYNE RD
11552 COYNE ROAD
HODDER GEORGINA JUNE 0.00 0.00

CON 5 N OF A N PT LOTS 6,7
R.R. #1

LAST TAX CERTIFICATE:

CURRENT BILLING AMOUNT:

MORTGAGE COMPANY: NONE

10,842.66
CURRENT BILLED NOT DUE: 0.00
LAST YEARS BILLING AMOUNT: 10,681.35
TOTAL DESTINATION CVA: 1,354,000
TOTAL PHASED-IN ASSESSMENT: 1,354,000

MORTGAGE NUMBER:

DUTTON ON  N0L 1J0

880,400FT EP
473,600RT EP

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNT
TAX YEAR 2021 2020 2019 2018 and Prior TOTAL
TAXES/OTHER CHARGES 2,751.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,751.00
PENALTY/INTEREST 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

2,751.00
TRANSACTION HISTORY

DATE TYPE DESCRIPTION AMOUNT BALANCE
01/01/2021 BALANCE FORWARD 35.39 35.39

Interest01/05/2021 Interest on Arrears 0.44 35.83
Interest02/05/2021 Interest on Arrears 0.44 36.27
ONLINE PAYMENT02/24/2021 G. JUNE HODDER Payment -2,705.83 -2,669.56
Billing02/26/2021 Interim 2,670.00 0.44
Penalty03/03/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.45
Penalty04/06/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.46
Penalty05/06/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.47
ONLINE PAYMENT05/27/2021 G. JUNE HODDER Payment -2,670.00 -2,669.53
Billing05/31/2021 Interim 2,670.00 0.47
Penalty06/03/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.48
Penalty07/07/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.49
Penalty08/03/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.50
Billing08/31/2021 Final 2,751.66 2,752.16
ONLINE PAYMENT08/31/2021 G. JUNE HODDER Payment -2,752.16 0.00

2,751.00Net Total Balance for SEP 30,2021 to NOV 30,2021:

2,751.00

Current Billing Instalments
Supplemental InstalmentsInterim Instalments Final Instalments

ACCOUNT BALANCE:

FEB 26,2021 2,670.00 2,751.66AUG 31,2021
MAY 31,2021 2,670.00 2,751.00NOV 30,2021



PROPERTY TAX HISTORY Page: 2

MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON/DUNWICHTreasurer's Office: Account as of: 09/29/2021
199 CURRIE ROAD
DUTTON, ON  N0L 1J0

(519) 762-2204Office Phone:
Toll Free:

PROPERTY OWNER PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
HODDER ROBERT NORMAN 34-29-000-003-06300-0000

99.50
DEPTH:

ACREAGE:
FRONTAGE:

11552 COYNE RD
11552 COYNE ROAD
HODDER GEORGINA JUNE 0.00 0.00

CON 5 N OF A N PT LOTS 6,7
R.R. #1

LAST TAX CERTIFICATE:

CURRENT BILLING AMOUNT:

MORTGAGE COMPANY: NONE

10,842.66
CURRENT BILLED NOT DUE: 0.00
LAST YEARS BILLING AMOUNT: 10,681.35
TOTAL DESTINATION CVA: 1,354,000
TOTAL PHASED-IN ASSESSMENT: 1,354,000

MORTGAGE NUMBER:

DUTTON ON  N0L 1J0

Current Year Payments Applied to Account
2019 2018 Total2021 and Prior2020

0.06
8,091.66Principal: 8,127.0535.39

0.88Pen/Int: 0.94
0.00

Total Payments: 8,127.99

0.00
0.00 0.00



  COUNCIL RESOLUTION  
 

    Res:  2021.18. ___       
Wednesday, September 22, 2021 

 

 

Moved by:   ____Loveland________________________________ 
 
Seconded by:    ___Drouillard_________________________________ 
 
 
THAT the Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich recommends approval to 
the Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin for proposed severance 
application E71/21 for 11714 Coyne Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich, provided 
the following conditions are included: 

a) That a Zoning By-law Amendment is in force and effect for the severed and 
retained parcels; 

b) That septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed; 
c) That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed; 
d) That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has 

been provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created 
residential lot; 

e) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey 
have been provided to the Municipality; 

f) That taxes are to be paid in full; 
g) That a 911 sign be established for the severed and retained parcels; 
h) That all Dutton Dunwich planning application fees, set out in the Fees By-law, 

be paid to the Municipality; and 
i) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed 

for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred will be provided to 
the Municipality; 

j) That all barns capable of holding livestock or are in disrepair on both the 
retained and severed lands be removed or decommissioned to the satisfaction 
of the Chief Building Official.  

 
CARRIED:  
 
 
___________________ 

Mayor 
 
DEFEATED:                
 
 
___________________ 

Mayor 

Recorded Vote Yeas Nays 
 
P. Corneil  _x__ ____ 

A. Drouillard  _x__ ____ 

K. Loveland  _x__ ____ 

M. Hentz  _x__ ____ 

B. Purcell – Mayor _x__ ____ 

08 



1 

 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM: Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP, Planner 

DATE: September 22, 2021 

SUBJECT: Application for Severance – 11714 Coyne Road (E71/21), Municipality of 
Dutton Dunwich – Barbara Farms Inc. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

THAT Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich recommends APPROVAL to the 
Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin for proposed severance application 
E71/21 for 11714 Coyne Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich, provided the following 
conditions are included: 

a) That a Zoning By-law Amendment is in force and effect for the severed and retained 
parcels; 

b) That septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed; 
c) That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed; 
d) That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has been 

provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created residential lot; 
e) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have been 

provided to the Municipality;  
f) That taxes are to be paid in full;  
g) That a 911 sign be established for the severed and retained parcels; 
h) That all Dutton Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-law, be 

paid to the Municipality; and 
i) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for the 

severed parcel once the transaction has occurred will be provided to the Municipality. 

FOR INFORMATION: 

Reasons for and Nature of the Application 

A severance application was submitted to the County of Elgin Land Division Committee 
(E71/21) by Barbara Farms Inc., the owner of the subject property.   

The owner is requesting the severance of a surplus farm dwelling from a parcel of land to 
be conveyed to Barbara Farms Inc. 



2 

The subject parcel is legally described as Concession 5 North of A, North Part Lots 6 and 
7, locally known as 11714 Coyne Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich.   

The subject lands are located along the northeast side of Coyne Road and Hwy 401 (see 
area in blue on the attached Key Map). 

The proposed severed parcel will have an area of 0.68 ha, a depth of 106 m and a 
frontage of 64 m.  Access to the subject property will be from a municipal road.  The 
proposed severed parcel is used for rural residential purposes, has 1 dwelling and 1 
accessory building and is serviced by municipal water and private septic services (see 
attached Sketch). 

The proposed retained parcel will have an area of 40 ha, a depth of 633 m and a frontage 
of 634 m.  Access to the subject property will be from a municipal road.  The proposed 
retained parcel is used for rural residential and agricultural purposes, has 1 dwelling and 
1 accessory building and is serviced by municipal water and private septic services (see 
attached Sketch). 

The David Bennett Drain and the Mennie Drain run along portion of the subject property 
and are regulated by the Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority (LTVCA).  In 
addition, a small woodlot is located in the centre of the property. 

Agricultural and rural residential uses surround the subject lands.  

The proposed severance application was circulated to municipal staff (see attached 
comments).  

The severance application is also part of LDC E72/21. 

Planning Policy Review 

Provincial Policy Statement 

Under Section 3(5) of the Planning Act, the Municipality “shall be consistent with” matters 
of provincial interest as set out in the Provincial Policy Statements, 2020 (PPS).  

Section 2.3.4 Lot Creation for prime agricultural areas was evaluated. 

Lot creation in agricultural areas is permitted for a residence surplus to a farming 
operation as a result of farm consolidation, provided that the planning authority ensures 
that new residential dwellings are prohibited on any vacant remnant parcel of farmland 
created by the severance.   

The surplus residence is the result of farm consolidation for the current owners. As a 
condition of severance, the balance of the farm will be required to be rezoned to prohibit 
residential buildings/structures.  



3 

New land uses, including the creation of lots and new or expanding livestock facilities, 
shall comply with the Minimum Distance Separation I (MDS I) Formula. The proposed 
severed parcel meets the MDS I setback to all neighbouring livestock facilities. 

Comment: The proposed severance application is consistent with the PPS. 

County of Elgin Official Plan 

The subject lands are designated ‘Agricultural Area’ on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use of the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (COP) with a portion subject to ‘Natural Heritage Features 
and Areas’ on Appendix #1.   

Section E1.2.3.4 Lot Creation on Lands in the Agricultural Area contains the policies that 
permit this type of severance as set out in the Agricultural Area designation. The 
severance to accommodate a habitable residence that has become surplus to a farming 
operation as a result of a farm consolidation is permitted provided that the development 
of a new residential use is prohibited on the retained parcel, created by the consent to 
sever.  

Section D1.2.6 sets out that development and site alteration is not permitted in the 
Woodlands unless an Environmental Impact Statement has been completed, 
demonstrating there will be no negative impact to the natural heritage features.  

Comment: The proposed severed parcel and retained parcel are in conformity with the 
County policies, provided the sewage disposal can be adequately addressed and that the 
lands are appropriately zoned. The house is habitable, the owners have indicated the 
severance is the result of farm consolidation, and as a condition of severance, a zoning 
by-law amendment is required to prohibit the development of a new residential use.  

Lot creation is considered development and is within and adjacent to the woodlands area, 
however, no new development is proposed. 

The proposed severance conforms to the intent of the COP. 

Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Official Plan  

The subject lands are designated “Agriculture” on Schedule ‘A’ - Land Use Plan of the 
current and adopted Official Plan (OP), as approved July 6, 2021. 

Section 8.3.4 states that an application for consent to sever and convey existing farm 
dwellings that are rendered surplus to the needs of a farm operation may be permitted in 
the Agriculture designation subject to several criteria. Evaluation of the criteria is as 
follows: 

a) The dwelling has been in existence for a minimum of five years; 

Records indicate that the dwelling has been in existence for more than five years.  



4 

b) The lot with the surplus dwelling is not larger than is necessary to support a private 
sanitary sewage treatment and disposal system, as determined by the appropriate 
approval authority, and be serviced with potable water supply; 

The proposed lot has access to services.   

c) The lot with the surplus dwelling must meet the provisions of the Minimum Distance 
Separation I requirements; 

The proposed severed parcel meets the MDS I setback to all neighbouring 
livestock facilities, as indicated by the owner on the application. 

d) The lot with the surplus dwelling complies with the provisions of the Special Rural 
Residential (RS) Zone as outlined in the Zoning By-law unless the by-law is 
otherwise amended or a minor variance is granted; 

The proposed severed parcel would be rezoned to an RS Zone to permit non-farm 
residential uses.  

e) The retained agricultural lands complies with the provisions of the Special 
Agricultural (A2) Zone as outlined in the Zoning By-law unless the by-law is 
otherwise amended or a minor variance is granted; 

The proposed retained parcel meets all A2 Zone provisions, pending a zoning 
amendment.   

f) A land use conflict shall not be created with agricultural operations or other existing 
land uses in the immediate area;  

There is minimal potential for land use conflicts as a result of the proposed surplus 
farm dwelling severance. No agricultural lands would be removed from production.   

g) Farm consolidation (the acquisition of additional farm parcels to be operated as 
one farm operation) has occurred. 

h) A farm operation or a registered owner of a farm operation must retain a minimum 
of one existing base of farm operation. 

Section 5.3.5 sets out that development or site alteration is not permitted in significant 
woodlands or adjacent to significant woodlands unless an Environmental Impact 
Statement has been completed which demonstrates there will be no negative impacts on 
the natural features or their ecological functions. 

Comments: The above-noted land division criteria can be complied with.  The proposed 
severance application conforms to the intent of the OP. 

Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law (ZBL) 



5 

In the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2004-24, the subject 
lands are zoned Large Lot Agricultural (A3) Zone on Map 5 with a portion subject to 
LTVCA Regulation Limit.  

As a condition of severance, a Zoning By-law Amendment is required to rezone the 
severed and retained parcels. The severed parcel will be rezoned to a Special Rural 
Residential (RS) Zone to permit non-farm residential uses.   

The retained parcel will be rezoned to a Special Agricultural (A2) Zone to allow the 
existing dwelling, however, it will not be allowed to be severed in the future, and any new 
dwellings will be prohibited. 

Comments: The proposed severance application shall comply with the permitted uses 
and regulations set out in the ZBL. 

CONCLUSION: 

Administration recommends approval for the proposed severance application with the 
conditions noted in the resolution. 

The resolution will then be forward to the Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin 
for consideration. 

Respectfully Submitted    

Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP    
Planner  

Approved for Submission  

Heather Bouw  
CAO/Clerk 
  



6 

KEY MAP 

 

SKETCH 

 



COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 
 
DATE: March 16, 2022 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.:  
 
TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE:   
APPLICATION NO.: E 71-21 
OWNER: Barbara Farms Inc. 
PROPERTY: LOT NO. Lots 6 & 7 CONCESSION: 5 N of Con A 
 REG’D PLAN:  MUNICIPALITY: Dutton Dunwich 
 
The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 
     [Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage  

of the severed and retained lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Calton Line County Road (45) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  
All costs to be borne by the owner.  

 
 
 

  
2)  A one-foot reserve is required along the N__________,        

S__________, E_________ and/or W__________ property line …………………..…………...  
  
3)  Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….………………  
  
4)  A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act  * (By Professional Engineer)….…  
  
5)  A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….…………..  
  
6)  Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne 
by the owner.   Discharge of water to the County road allowance is 
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

 
   

  
7)  Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………...  
  
8)  That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance 
to the severed and/or retained parcels.  All costs associated with this shall be borne by the 
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

    

  
9)  Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...…………………  
  
10) The County has no concerns………………………………………………………………………..  
  
11) Not on County Road …………………………………………………………………………………. X 
  
12)  Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….………………  
  

13) Other…  
 
 
Note:  These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 

amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

 

          
______________________________________ 

 BRIAN LIMA, P. ENG. 
GENERAL MANAGER OF ENGINEERING, 
PLANNING & ENTERPRISE / DEPUTY CAO 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  March 23, 2022 
Application:  E 71-21 

 
 

Owner: 
Hodder Robert Norman 
Hodder Georgina June 
11552 Coyne Road RR #1 
Dutton ON N0L 1J0 
 
Location: 11714 Coyne Road, legally described as Lots 6 and 7, Concession 5 N of Con A 
Dunwich, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 64 metres (209.974 feet) along 
Coyne Road by a depth of 106 metres (347.769 feet) and an area of 0.68 hectares (1.68 
acres) containing one residence and one small drive shed, surplus to the needs of the 
purchasing farmer. The applicants are retaining 40 hectares (98.84 acres) proposed to 
remain in agricultural use. 
  
COMMITTEE INFORMATION: 
The acceptance of application E 71-21 occurred prior to legal interpretation being provided to 
the Land Division Committee regarding consent applications specifically related to surplus 
farm dwellings. Shortly after this interpretation was provided, prior to any discussion taking 
place, the Council of Dutton/Dunwich recommended approval of the applications. 
 
The application lists Barbara Farms Inc. as the applicant/purchaser of the subject lands. The 
Planning Division of Elgin County originally recommended either deferral of these 
applications until such time as the applications are corrected to meet County and PPS policy 
(surplus farm dwelling as a result of farm consolidation by the owner), or refusal. With 
proclamation of Bill 276 on January 1, 2022 now allowing purchasers under an agreement of 
purchase and sale to apply for a consent, the applications now meet the criteria for lot 
creation in agricultural areas, as outlined in the PPS. 

 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning By-
law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural  Large Lot Agricultural (A3) Zone 
 

REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich - Recommends approval subject to the provided conditions.  
 
County Engineering – indicated this application is not on a County road. 
 
Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – no correspondence.  
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement  
In considering this application, staff must have regard to matters of Provincial Interest in 
accordance with Section 2 of the Planning Act (PA), and subdivision criteria in accordance 
with Section 51(24) of the PA. 
 
The application shall also be consistent with the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement (PPS). 
Policy 2.3.4. discourages lot creation in agricultural areas and may only be permitted for 
agricultural uses, agriculture-related uses, infrastructure, and a residence surplus to a farming 
operation as a result of farm consolidation, provided that: 
- the new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to accommodate the use and 

appropriate sewage and water services; and 
- the planning authority ensures that new residential dwellings are prohibited on any 

remnant parcel of farmland created by the severance.  
 
The Applicant has indicated that the retained lands will maintain their current agricultural use. 
Policy 2.3.4.1 c) 1. states that any new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to 
accommodate the use and appropriate sewage and water services.  The proposed severed 
lands (0.68 hectares/1.68 acres) will contain an existing dwelling and drive shed, and the 
existing private servicing (privately owned and operated individual well and privately owned 
and operated individual septic tank). The proposed severance is the result of a farm 
consolidation on behalf of the purchasing farmer, which with proclamation of Bill 276 on 
January 1, 2022 now allowing purchasers under an agreement of purchase and sale to apply 
for a consent, now does meet the criteria for lot creation in agricultural areas, as outlined in 
the PPS.  
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The subject site is within the Agricultural Area designation of the Elgin County Official Plan 
(OP). New lots may be permitted if the local Official Plan supports their creation and if the lot 
is considered surplus to a farming operation as a result of a farm consolidation, provided that 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

the development of a new residential use is prohibited on any retained parcel of farmland 
created by the consent to sever, unless the retained parcel is the product of the merging in 
title of two adjacent agricultural parcels in which case a dwelling unit would be permitted as 
part of the operation. 
 
The Applicant has previously indicated that the retained lands (40 hectares/98.84 acres) will 
maintain their existing agricultural use. This application is a result of a farm consolidation on 
behalf of the purchasing farmer and with proclamation of Bill 276 on January 1, 2022 now 
allowing purchasers under an agreement of purchase and sale to apply for a consent, 
therefore the application now does meet the policies of the County Official Plan regarding 
agricultural lot creation. 

 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
The subject lands are designated as Agricultural, as shown on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use Plan of 
the Dutton/Dunwich Official Plan. Agricultural land use policies permit farm dwellings on the 
farm operation. Lot creation for purposes of disposing of a dwelling considered surplus as a 
result of farm consolidation, is permitted as per Section 8.3.4(b) criteria. 
 
The subject lands are zoned Large Lot Agricultural (A3) on Schedule A, Map 5 of the Zoning 
By-law. Permitted uses within the General Agricultural (A1) Zone include agricultural uses 
with farm buildings and structures including single detached dwelling. The proposed severed 
parcel would need to be re-zoned, as a condition of approval, likely to a Special Rural 
Residential (RS) zone. The retained lands will need to be rezoned to prevent a new dwelling 
(Special Agricultural (A2)). 
 
The application appears to conform with both the Official Plan and Zoning By-law of 
Dutton/Dunwich. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application was originally deferred by the Committee as at the time it was considered not 
consistent with either the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement or the County of Elgin Official 
Plan regarding lot creation for surplus dwellings in agricultural areas since the dwelling was 
surplus to the needs of the purchasing farmer. Changes to the Planning Act brought about 
with proclamation of Bill 276 on January 1, 2022 now allow purchasers under an agreement 
of purchase and sale to apply for a consent, including a consent for a surplus farm dwelling. 
Staff are of the opinion that the application can now be considered consistent with the PPS 
and the County OP. 
 
Should the Land Division Committee support the application, the following conditions are 
recommended by Elgin County: 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of registered deed for the severed parcel once 
completed. 

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County Planning. 

 
It is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich be 
included as conditions for consent, if supported: 
 
1. That a Zoning By-law Amendment is in force and effect for the severed and retained 

parcels. 
2. That a septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed. 
3. That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed. 
4. That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has been 

provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created residential lot. 
5. That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have been 

provided to the Municipality. 
6. That taxes are to be paid in full. 
7. That a 911 sign be established for the severed and retained parcels. 
8. That all Dutton/Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-law, be paid 

to the Municipality. 
9. That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for the 

severed parcel once the transaction has occurred will be provided to the Municipality. 
10. That all barns capable of holding livestock or are in disrepair on both the retained and 

severed lands be removed or decommissioned to the satisfaction of the Chief Building 
Official. 



CORPORATION OF THE COUNTY OF ELGIN 
NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR CONSENT 

APPLICATION NO.  E 72-21 

LOTS 6 AND 7, CONCESSION 5 N OF CON A DUNWICH 
MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON DUNWICH 

MUNICIPAL ADDRESS: 11552 COYNE ROAD 

TAKE NOTICE that an application has been made by Barbara Farms Inc., 33812 
Fingal Line, Fingal ON N0L 1K0 for a consent pursuant to Section 53 of the Planning 
Act, 1990, as amended, to sever lands municipally known as 11552 Coyne Road, 
Municipality of Dutton Dunwich. 

The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 30 metres (98.42 feet) 
along Coyne Road by a depth of 172 metres (564.30 feet) and an area of 0.70 hectares 
(1.72 acres) containing one residence, a small shed and a barn, surplus to the needs of 
the purchasing farmer. The applicants are retaining 40 hectares (98.84 acres) proposed 
to remain in agricultural use. 

The location of the property is shown on the Key Map attached. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the application is available for inspection daily, 
Monday to Friday, between 8:30 A.M. and 4:30 P.M., at the County Municipal Offices, 
450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas or at a Public Hearing to be held on: 

WEDNESDAY MARCH 23, 2022 AT 9:50 AM. 
 BY VIDEO/TELEPHONE CONFERENCE OR IN PERSON AT 

 Council Chambers, County Municipal Offices, 450 Sunset Drive, St. Thomas 

Any person or public body may attend the Public Hearing and/or make written or verbal 
representation either in support of, or in opposition to the proposed consent. 

PLEASE NOTE: YOUR PARTICIPATION BY VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE IS 
PREFERRED.  

DUE TO PROVINCIAL ORDERS, ATTENDANCE IN PERSON MAY BE 
RESTRICTED. PLEASE CONTACT landdivision@elgin.ca AT LEAST 24 HOURS 
BEFORE THE MEETING TO ARRANGE FOR VIDEO/TELECONFERENCE OR 
TELELPHONE INFORMATION, OR TO CONFIRM IF IN PERSON ATTENDANCE IS 
POSSIBLE. 

If you wish to be notified of the decision of the Land Division Committee in respect of 
the proposed consent, you must submit a written request to the Land Division 
Committee.  This will also entitle you to be advised of any appeal to the Local Planning 
Appeal Tribunal. 

If a person or public body that files an appeal of a decision of the Land Division 
Committee in respect of the proposed consent does not make written or oral 
submissions to the Land Division Committee before it gives or refuses to give a 
provisional consent, the Local Planning Appeal Tribunal may dismiss the appeal. 

Dated at the Municipality of Central Elgin this 15th day of February, 2022. 

 Julie Gonyou   
 Secretary-Treasurer 
 Land Division Committee 

County of Elgin 
Planning Department 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-631-4549   
www.progressivebynatrue.com 

mailto:landdivision@elgin.ca


COYNE RD

HWY 4
01

GAE
LIC

 LI
NE

HW
Y 4

01

Elgin County, Maxar

Subject Site: 11552 Coyne Road
File Number: 72-2021
Owner: Barbara Farms Inc.
Planner: Nancy Pasato
Created By: AL
Date: 009/07/2021

Location Map ±

The Corporation of the County Elgin
Prepared By: Planning and Development

Legend

Subject Site

Severed

Retained

Elgin Road Network

Buildings
0 100 200

Meters

Retained

COYNERD Maxar, Microsoft

Severed - Close Up

Retained

Severed
E 71-21

Severed
E 72-21

Severed



COYNE RD

HWY 4
01

GAE
LIC

 LI
NE

HW
Y 4

01

Subject Site: 11552 Coyne Road
File Number: 72-2021
Owner: Barbara Farms Inc.
Planner: Nancy Pasato
Created By: AL
Date: 009/07/2021

Location Map ±

The Corporation of the County Elgin
Prepared By: Planning and Development

Legend

Subject Site

Severed

Retained

Elgin Road Network

Buildings
0 100 200

Meters

Retained

COYNERD

Severed - Close Up

Retained

Severed
E 71-21

Severed
E 72-21

Severed

























PROPERTY TAX HISTORY Page: 1

MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON/DUNWICHTreasurer's Office: Account as of: 09/29/2021
199 CURRIE ROAD
DUTTON, ON  N0L 1J0

(519) 762-2204Office Phone:
Toll Free:

PROPERTY OWNER PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
HODDER ROBERT NORMAN 34-29-000-003-06300-0000

99.50
DEPTH:

ACREAGE:
FRONTAGE:

11552 COYNE RD
11552 COYNE ROAD
HODDER GEORGINA JUNE 0.00 0.00

CON 5 N OF A N PT LOTS 6,7
R.R. #1

LAST TAX CERTIFICATE:

CURRENT BILLING AMOUNT:

MORTGAGE COMPANY: NONE

10,842.66
CURRENT BILLED NOT DUE: 0.00
LAST YEARS BILLING AMOUNT: 10,681.35
TOTAL DESTINATION CVA: 1,354,000
TOTAL PHASED-IN ASSESSMENT: 1,354,000

MORTGAGE NUMBER:

DUTTON ON  N0L 1J0

880,400FT EP
473,600RT EP

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNT
TAX YEAR 2021 2020 2019 2018 and Prior TOTAL
TAXES/OTHER CHARGES 2,751.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,751.00
PENALTY/INTEREST 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

2,751.00
TRANSACTION HISTORY

DATE TYPE DESCRIPTION AMOUNT BALANCE
01/01/2021 BALANCE FORWARD 35.39 35.39

Interest01/05/2021 Interest on Arrears 0.44 35.83
Interest02/05/2021 Interest on Arrears 0.44 36.27
ONLINE PAYMENT02/24/2021 G. JUNE HODDER Payment -2,705.83 -2,669.56
Billing02/26/2021 Interim 2,670.00 0.44
Penalty03/03/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.45
Penalty04/06/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.46
Penalty05/06/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.47
ONLINE PAYMENT05/27/2021 G. JUNE HODDER Payment -2,670.00 -2,669.53
Billing05/31/2021 Interim 2,670.00 0.47
Penalty06/03/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.48
Penalty07/07/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.49
Penalty08/03/2021 Penalty on Current Principal 0.01 0.50
Billing08/31/2021 Final 2,751.66 2,752.16
ONLINE PAYMENT08/31/2021 G. JUNE HODDER Payment -2,752.16 0.00

2,751.00Net Total Balance for SEP 30,2021 to NOV 30,2021:

2,751.00

Current Billing Instalments
Supplemental InstalmentsInterim Instalments Final Instalments

ACCOUNT BALANCE:

FEB 26,2021 2,670.00 2,751.66AUG 31,2021
MAY 31,2021 2,670.00 2,751.00NOV 30,2021



PROPERTY TAX HISTORY Page: 2

MUNICIPALITY OF DUTTON/DUNWICHTreasurer's Office: Account as of: 09/29/2021
199 CURRIE ROAD
DUTTON, ON  N0L 1J0

(519) 762-2204Office Phone:
Toll Free:

PROPERTY OWNER PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
HODDER ROBERT NORMAN 34-29-000-003-06300-0000

99.50
DEPTH:

ACREAGE:
FRONTAGE:

11552 COYNE RD
11552 COYNE ROAD
HODDER GEORGINA JUNE 0.00 0.00

CON 5 N OF A N PT LOTS 6,7
R.R. #1

LAST TAX CERTIFICATE:

CURRENT BILLING AMOUNT:

MORTGAGE COMPANY: NONE

10,842.66
CURRENT BILLED NOT DUE: 0.00
LAST YEARS BILLING AMOUNT: 10,681.35
TOTAL DESTINATION CVA: 1,354,000
TOTAL PHASED-IN ASSESSMENT: 1,354,000

MORTGAGE NUMBER:

DUTTON ON  N0L 1J0

Current Year Payments Applied to Account
2019 2018 Total2021 and Prior2020

0.06
8,091.66Principal: 8,127.0535.39

0.88Pen/Int: 0.94
0.00

Total Payments: 8,127.99

0.00
0.00 0.00



  COUNCIL RESOLUTION  
 

    Res:  2021.18. ___       
Wednesday, September 22, 2021 

 

 

Moved by:   _____Drouillard_______________________________ 
 
Seconded by:    ____Hentz________________________________ 
 
 
THAT the Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich recommends approval to 
the Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin for proposed severance 
application E72/21 for 11552 Coyne Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich, provided 
the following conditions are included: 

a) That a Zoning By-law Amendment is in force and effect for the severed and 
retained parcels; 

b) That a septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed; 
c) That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed; 
d) That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has 

been provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created 
residential lot; 

e) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey 
have been provided to the Municipality; 

f) That taxes are to be paid in full; 
g) That a 911 sign be established for the severed and retained parcels; 
h) That all Dutton Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-

law, be paid to the Municipality; and 
i) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed 

for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred will be provided to 
the Municipality; 

j) That all barns capable of holding livestock or are in disrepair on both the 
retained and severed lands be removed or decommissioned to the satisfaction 
of the Chief Building Official.  

 
CARRIED:  
 
 
___________________ 

Mayor 
 
DEFEATED:                
 
 
___________________ 

Mayor 

Recorded Vote Yeas Nays 
 
P. Corneil  _x__ ____ 

A. Drouillard  _x__ ____ 

K. Loveland  _x__ ____ 

M. Hentz  _x__ ____ 

B. Purcell – Mayor _x__ ____ 

10 



1 

 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM: Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP, Planner 

DATE: September 22, 2021 

SUBJECT: Application for Severance – 11552 Coyne Road (E72/21), Municipality of 
Dutton Dunwich – Barbara Farms Inc. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

THAT Council of the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich recommends APPROVAL to the 
Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin for proposed severance application 
E72/21 for 11552 Coyne Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich, provided the following 
conditions are included: 

a) That a Zoning By-law Amendment is in force and effect for the severed and 
retained parcels; 

b) That septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed; 
c) That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed; 
d) That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) 

has been provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created 
residential lot; 

e) That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey 
have been provided to the Municipality;  

f) That taxes are to be paid in full;  
g) That a 911 sign be established for the severed and retained parcels; 
h) That all Dutton Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-

law, be paid to the Municipality; and 
i) That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed 

for the severed parcel once the transaction has occurred will be provided to 
the Municipality. 

FOR INFORMATION: 

Reasons for and Nature of the Application 

A severance application was submitted to the County of Elgin Land Division Committee 
(E72/21) by Barbara Farms Inc., the owner of the subject property.   



2 

The owner is requesting the severance of a surplus farm dwelling from a parcel of land to 
be conveyed to Barbara Farms Inc. 

The subject parcel is legally described as Concession 5 North of A, North Part Lots 6 and 
7, locally known as 11552 Coyne Road, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich.   

The subject lands are located along the northeast side of Coyne Road and Hwy 401 (see 
area in blue on the attached Key Map). 

The proposed severed parcel will have an area of 0.70 ha, a depth of 172 m and a 
frontage of 30 m.  Access to the subject property will be from a municipal road.  The 
proposed severed parcel is used for rural residential purposes, has 1 dwelling and 1 
accessory building and is serviced by municipal water and private septic services (see 
attached Sketch). 

The proposed retained parcel will have an area of 40 ha, a depth of 633 m and a frontage 
of 634 m.  Access to the subject property will be from a municipal road.  The proposed 
retained parcel is used for agricultural purposes and has 1 accessory building and is 
serviced by municipal water and no septic services (see attached Sketch). 

The David Bennett Drain and the Mennie Drain run along a portion of the subject property 
and are regulated by the Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority (LTVCA).  In 
addition, a small woodlot is located in the centre of the property. 

Agricultural and rural residential uses surround the subject lands.  

The proposed severance application was circulated to municipal staff (see attached 
comments).  

The severance application is also part of LDC E71/21. 

Planning Policy Review 

Provincial Policy Statement 

Under Section 3(5) of the Planning Act, the Municipality “shall be consistent with” matters 
of provincial interest as set out in the Provincial Policy Statements, 2020 (PPS).  

Section 2.3.4 Lot Creation for prime agricultural areas was evaluated. 

Lot creation in agricultural areas is permitted for a residence surplus to a farming 
operation as a result of farm consolidation, provided that the planning authority ensures 
that new residential dwellings are prohibited on any vacant remnant parcel of farmland 
created by the severance.   

The surplus residence is the result of farm consolidation for the current owners. As a 
condition of severance, the balance of the farm will be required to be rezoned to prohibit 
residential buildings/structures.  



3 

New land uses, including the creation of lots and new or expanding livestock facilities, 
shall comply with the Minimum Distance Separation I (MDS I) Formula. The proposed 
severed parcel meets the MDS I setback to all neighbouring livestock facilities. 

Comment: The proposed severance application is consistent with the PPS. 

County of Elgin Official Plan 

The subject lands are designated ‘Agricultural Area’ on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use of the 
County of Elgin Official Plan (COP) with a portion subject to ‘Natural Heritage Features 
and Areas’ on Appendix #1.   

Section E1.2.3.4 Lot Creation on Lands in the Agricultural Area contains the policies that 
permit this type of severance as set out in the Agricultural Area designation. The 
severance to accommodate a habitable residence that has become surplus to a farming 
operation as a result of a farm consolidation is permitted provided that the development 
of a new residential use is prohibited on the retained parcel, created by the consent to 
sever.  

Section D1.2.6 sets out that development and site alteration is not permitted in the 
Woodlands unless an Environmental Impact Statement has been completed, 
demonstrating there will be no negative impact to the natural heritage features.  

Comment: The proposed severed parcel and retained parcel are in conformity with the 
County policies, provided the sewage disposal can be adequately addressed and that the 
lands are appropriately zoned. The house is habitable, the owners have indicated the 
severance is the result of farm consolidation, and as a condition of severance, a zoning 
by-law amendment is required to prohibit the development of a new residential use.  

Lot creation is considered development and is within and adjacent to the woodlands area; 
however, no new development is proposed. 

The proposed severance conforms to the intent of the COP. 

Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Official Plan  

The subject lands are designated “Agriculture” on Schedule ‘A’ - Land Use Plan of the 
current and adopted Official Plan (OP), as approved July 6, 2021. 

Section 8.3.4 states that an application for consent to sever and convey existing farm 
dwellings that are rendered surplus to the needs of a farm operation may be permitted in 
the Agriculture designation subject to several criteria. Evaluation of the criteria is as 
follows: 

a) The dwelling has been in existence for a minimum of five years; 

Records indicate that the dwelling has been in existence for more than five years.  



4 

b) The lot with the surplus dwelling is not larger than is necessary to support a private 
sanitary sewage treatment and disposal system, as determined by the appropriate 
approval authority, and be serviced with potable water supply; 

The proposed lot has access to services.   

c) The lot with the surplus dwelling must meet the provisions of the Minimum Distance 
Separation I requirements; 

The proposed severed parcel meets the MDS I setback to all neighbouring 
livestock facilities, as indicated by the owner on the application. 

d) The lot with the surplus dwelling complies with the provisions of the Special Rural 
Residential (RS) Zone as outlined in the Zoning By-law unless the by-law is 
otherwise amended or a minor variance is granted; 

The proposed severed parcel would be rezoned to an RS Zone to permit non-farm 
residential uses.  

e) The retained agricultural lands complies with the provisions of the Special 
Agricultural (A2) Zone as outlined in the Zoning By-law unless the by-law is 
otherwise amended or a minor variance is granted; 

The proposed retained parcel meets all A2 Zone provisions, pending a zoning 
amendment.   

f) A land use conflict shall not be created with agricultural operations or other existing 
land uses in the immediate area;  

There is minimal potential for land use conflicts as a result of the proposed surplus 
farm dwelling severance. No agricultural lands would be removed from production.   

g) Farm consolidation (the acquisition of additional farm parcels to be operated as 
one farm operation) has occurred. 

h) A farm operation or a registered owner of a farm operation must retain a minimum 
of one existing base of farm operation. 

Section 5.3.5 sets out that development or site alteration is not permitted in significant 
woodlands or adjacent to significant woodlands unless an Environmental Impact 
Statement has been completed which demonstrates there will be no negative impacts on 
the natural features or their ecological functions. 

Comments: The above-noted land division criteria can be complied with.  The proposed 
severance application conforms to the intent of the OP. 

Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law (ZBL) 



5 

In the Municipality of Dutton Dunwich Comprehensive Zoning By-law 2004-24, the subject 
lands are zoned Large Lot Agricultural (A3) Zone on Map 5 with a portion subject to 
LTVCA Regulation Limit.  

As a condition of severance, a Zoning By-law Amendment is required to rezone the 
severed and retained parcels. The severed parcel will be rezoned to a Special Rural 
Residential (RS) Zone to permit non-farm residential uses.   

The retained parcel will be rezoned to a Special Agricultural (A2) Zone to allow the 
existing dwelling, however, it will not be allowed to be severed in the future, and any new 
dwellings will be prohibited. 

Comments: The proposed severance application shall comply with the permitted uses 
and regulations set out in the ZBL. 

CONCLUSION: 

Administration recommends approval for the proposed severance application with the 
conditions noted in the resolution. 

The resolution will then be forward to the Land Division Committee of the County of Elgin 
for consideration. 

Respectfully Submitted    

Tracey Pillon-Abbs, MCIP, RPP    
Planner 

   

Approved for Submission  

Heather Bouw  
CAO/Clerk 
  



6 

KEY MAP 

 

SKETCH 

 



COUNTY OF ELGIN ROAD SYSTEM 
 
DATE: March 16, 2022 ELGIN COUNTY ROAD NO.:  
 
TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE 
RE:   
APPLICATION NO.: E 72-21 
OWNER: Barbara Farms Inc. 
PROPERTY: LOT NO. Lots 6 & 7 CONCESSION: 5 N of Con A 
 REG’D PLAN:  MUNICIPALITY: Dutton Dunwich 
 
The notice of the above application on the above premises has been received and I have the 
following comments to make: 
1)  Land for road widening is required ……………………………………………………………….. 
     [Section 51 (25) of the Planning Act - That the owner dedicate lands along the frontage  

of the severed and retained lot/parcel up to 15m from the centreline of construction of 
Calton Line County Road (45) to the County of Elgin for the purposes of road widening if 
the right of ways is not already to that width, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  
All costs to be borne by the owner.  

 
 
 

  
2)  A one-foot reserve is required along the N__________,        

S__________, E_________ and/or W__________ property line …………………..…………...  
  
3)  Drainage pipes and/or catchbasin(s) are required ……………………………….………………  
  
4)  A Drainage Report is required under the Drainage Act  * (By Professional Engineer)….…  
  
5)  A curb and gutter is required along the frontage …………………………………….…………..  
  
6)  Direct Connection to a legal outlet for the severed lot is required - If an existing 
connection is unavailable, to the satisfaction of the County Engineer.  All costs to be borne 
by the owner.   Discharge of water to the County road allowance is 
prohibited.………………………………………………………………………………………………...…. 

 
   

  
7)  Technical Reports ……………………………………………………………………………………...  
  
8)  That, if necessary, an entrance permit be obtained from Elgin County for a new entrance 
to the severed and/or retained parcels.  All costs associated with this shall be borne by the 
owner………………………………………………………………………………………………..…… 

    

  
9)  Lot Grading Plan is required for the severed lot……………………………...…………………  
  
10) The County has no concerns………………………………………………………………………..  
  
11) Not on County Road …………………………………………………………………………………. X 
  
12)  Please provide me with a copy of your action on this application ………….………………  
  

13) Other…  
 
 
Note:  These lands are subject to County of Elgin By-Law No. 92-57, as amended by By-Law No. 96-45, and any 

amendments made thereto hereafter, being a by-law to regulate the construction or alteration of any 
entranceway, private roads or access to a County road. 

 

          
______________________________________ 

 BRIAN LIMA, P. ENG. 
GENERAL MANAGER OF ENGINEERING, 
PLANNING & ENTERPRISE / DEPUTY CAO 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Planning Division, County of Elgin 
Date:  March 23, 2022 
Application:  E 72-21 

 
 

Owner: 
Hodder Robert Norman 
Hodder Georgina June 
11552 Coyne Road RR #1 
Dutton ON N0L 1J0 
 
Location: 11552 Coyne Road, legally described as Lots 6 and 7, Concession 5 N of Con A 
Dunwich, Municipality of Dutton Dunwich. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicants propose to sever a parcel with a frontage of 30 metres (98.42 feet) 
along Coyne Road by a depth of 172 metres (564.30 feet) and an area of 0.70 hectares (1.72 
acres) containing one residence, a small shed and a barn, surplus to the needs of the 
purchasing farmer. The applicants are retaining 40 hectares (98.84 acres) proposed to 
remain in agricultural use. 
  
COMMITTEE INFORMATION: 
The acceptance of application E 72-21 occurred prior to legal interpretation being provided to 
the Land Division Committee regarding consent applications specifically related to surplus 
farm dwellings. Shortly after this interpretation was provided, prior to any discussion taking 
place, the Council of Dutton/Dunwich recommended approval of the applications. 
 
The application lists Barbara Farms Inc. as the applicant/purchaser of the subject lands. The 
Planning Division of Elgin County originally recommended either deferral of these 
applications until such time as the applications are corrected to meet County and PPS policy 
(surplus farm dwelling as a result of farm consolidation by the owner), or refusal. With 
proclamation of Bill 276 on January 1, 2022 now allowing purchasers under an agreement of 
purchase and sale to apply for a consent, the applications now meet the criteria for lot 
creation in agricultural areas, as outlined in the PPS. 

 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

County of Elgin Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Official 
Plan 

Local Municipality Zoning By-
law 

Agricultural Area Agricultural  Large Lot Agricultural (A3) Zone 
 

REVIEW & ANALYSIS: 
Public and Agency Comments 
Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich - Recommends approval subject to the provided conditions.  
 
County Engineering – indicated this application is not on a County road. 
 
Lower Thames Valley Conservation Authority – no correspondence.  
 
Planning Act and Provincial Policy Statement  
In considering this application, staff must have regard to matters of Provincial Interest in 
accordance with Section 2 of the Planning Act (PA), and subdivision criteria in accordance 
with Section 51(24) of the PA. 
 
The application shall also be consistent with the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement (PPS). 
Policy 2.3.4. discourages lot creation in agricultural areas and may only be permitted for 
agricultural uses, agriculture-related uses, infrastructure, and a residence surplus to a farming 
operation as a result of farm consolidation, provided that: 
- the new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to accommodate the use and 

appropriate sewage and water services; and 
- the planning authority ensures that new residential dwellings are prohibited on any 

remnant parcel of farmland created by the severance.  
 
The Applicant has indicated that the retained lands will maintain their current agricultural use. 
Policy 2.3.4.1 c) 1. states that any new lot will be limited to a minimum size needed to 
accommodate the use and appropriate sewage and water services.  The proposed severed 
lands (0.70 hectares/1.72 acres) will contain an existing dwelling, a shed, a barn, and the 
existing private servicing (privately owned and operated individual well and privately owned 
and operated individual septic tank). The proposed severance is the result of a farm 
consolidation on behalf of the purchasing farmer, which with proclamation of Bill 276 on 
January 1, 2022 now allowing purchasers under an agreement of purchase and sale to apply 
for a consent, now does meet the criteria for lot creation in agricultural areas, as outlined in 
the PPS.  
 
County of Elgin Official Plan 
The subject site is within the Agricultural Area designation of the Elgin County Official Plan 
(OP). New lots may be permitted if the local Official Plan supports their creation and if the lot 
is considered surplus to a farming operation as a result of a farm consolidation, provided that 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

the development of a new residential use is prohibited on any retained parcel of farmland 
created by the consent to sever, unless the retained parcel is the product of the merging in 
title of two adjacent agricultural parcels in which case a dwelling unit would be permitted as 
part of the operation. 
 
The Applicant has previously indicated that the retained lands (40 hectares/98.84 acres) will 
maintain their existing agricultural use. This application is a result of a farm consolidation on 
behalf of the purchasing farmer and with proclamation of Bill 276 on January 1, 2022 now 
allowing purchasers under an agreement of purchase and sale to apply for a consent, 
therefore the application now does meet the policies of the County Official Plan regarding 
agricultural lot creation. 

 
Local Municipality Official Plan and Zoning By-law 
The subject lands are designated as Agricultural, as shown on Schedule ‘A’ Land Use Plan of 
the Dutton/Dunwich Official Plan. Agricultural land use policies permit farm dwellings on the 
farm operation. Lot creation for purposes of disposing of a dwelling considered surplus as a 
result of farm consolidation, is permitted as per Section 8.3.4(b) criteria. 
 
The subject lands are zoned Large Lot Agricultural (A3) on Schedule A, Map 5 of the Zoning 
By-law. Permitted uses within the General Agricultural (A1) Zone include agricultural uses 
with farm buildings and structures including single detached dwelling. The proposed severed 
parcel would need to be re-zoned, as a condition of approval, likely to a Special Rural 
Residential (RS) zone. The retained lands will need to be rezoned to prevent a new dwelling 
(Special Agricultural (A2)). 
 
The application appears to conform with both the Official Plan and Zoning By-law of 
Dutton/Dunwich. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
This application was originally deferred by the Committee as at the time it was considered not 
consistent with either the 2020 Provincial Policy Statement or the County of Elgin Official 
Plan regarding lot creation for surplus dwellings in agricultural areas since the dwelling was 
surplus to the needs of the purchasing farmer. Changes to the Planning Act brought about 
with proclamation of Bill 276 on January 1, 2022 now allow purchasers under an agreement 
of purchase and sale to apply for a consent, including a consent for a surplus farm dwelling. 
Staff are of the opinion that the application can now be considered consistent with the PPS 
and the County OP. 
 
Should the Land Division Committee support the application, the following conditions are 
recommended by Elgin County: 
 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

1. A digital copy of the draft and final deposited reference plan be provided to the County 
of Elgin.  

2. Solicitor Undertaking to provide a copy of registered deed for the severed parcel once 
completed. 

3. Municipal addressing to be provided to Elgin County, from the local municipality, prior to 
final approval, to the satisfaction of Elgin County Planning. 

 
It is recommended that the following conditions from the Municipality of Dutton/Dunwich be 
included as conditions for consent, if supported: 
 
1. That a Zoning By-law Amendment is in force and effect for the severed and retained 

parcels. 
2. That a septic system review for the severed parcel has been completed. 
3. That Municipal drain re-apportionments have been completed. 
4. That a mutual drainage agreement (under Section 2 of the Drainage Act) has been 

provided to provide a legal drainage outlet for the newly created residential lot. 
5. That two (2) hard copies and one (1) digital copy of the registered survey have been 

provided to the Municipality. 
6. That taxes are to be paid in full. 
7. That a 911 sign be established for the severed and retained parcels. 
8. That all Dutton/Dunwich planning applications fees, set out in the Fees By-law, be paid 

to the Municipality. 
9. That the solicitor provides an undertaking that a copy of the registered deed for the 

severed parcel once the transaction has occurred will be provided to the Municipality. 
10. That all barns capable of holding livestock or are in disrepair on both the retained and 

severed lands be removed or decommissioned to the satisfaction of the Chief Building 
Official. 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

APPLICATION FOR CONSENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 53 OF THE PLANNING ACT, 
1990, AS AMENDED. 

 
To:      Elgin County Land Division Committee 
From:  Nicholas Loeb, Senior Counsel, Elgin County Legal Services 
Date:  September 22, 2021  
Application:  E76/21; E77/21; E78/21; E79/21 

 
 

Background 
 
On May 26, 2021 the Elgin County Land Division Committee considered applications 
E76/21, E77/21, E78/21 and E79/21 (together, the “Applications”). A decision to provide 
consent with conditions was given on October 27, 2021 to the Applications. Enclosed with 
report are copies of the Decisions, dated November 8, 2021. 
 
Issue 
 
The Applications were filed identifying the Owners as Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy (the 
“Applicants”). There were no appeals of the Decisions. The Applicants proceeded to clear 
the conditions contained in the Decisions, which are the same for each individual 
application. County staff are content that the conditions have been cleared.  
 
When the request was received for certification of the deeds pursuant to section 53(42) of 
the Planning Act a review was undertaken, including legal review. It was noted that the 
deeds presented showed the current ownership as a self-to-self transfer from and to 11:28 
Properties Inc.. Therefore, the ownership on the deeds does not match the Owners 
identified on the Applications. County staff inquired with the Applicants as to when the 
subject property was transferred from the ownership of Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy to 
11:28 Properties Inc. and for evidence that the consent was assigned to the corporate 
entity. Information was provided to the County that the registered owner of the subject 
property had always been 11:28 Properties Inc. 
 
Correspondence was issued from County staff indicating that the deeds cannot be stamped 
because the applications were not filed by the Owner in conformance with section 53(1) of 
the Planning Act. 
 
Section 53(1) states: 
 

“(1) An owner, chargee or purchaser of land, or such owner’s, chargee’s or 
purchaser’s agent duly authorized in writing, may apply for a consent as defined 



 

 

County of Elgin 
450 Sunset Drive 
St. Thomas, Ontario 
N5R 5V1 Canada 
Phone: 519-631-1460  
Fax: 519-633-7661   
www.elgin-county.on.ca  

 

in subsection 50 (1) and the council or the Minister, as the case may be, may, 
subject to this section, give a consent if satisfied that a plan of subdivision of the land  
is not necessary for the proper and orderly development of the municipality. 2021, c. 
25, Sched. 24, s. 4 (1).” 

 
The reason the Applications were not in conformance with this section is that the registered 
owner is 11:28 Properties Inc. and not Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy. There is no written 
authorization of Greg Mitchell and Scott Gilvesy duly authorizing them as agents for 11:28 
Properties Inc. within the existing Application materials. 
 
Having received the County’s correspondence, the Applicants requested to be heard at the 
earliest possible Land Division Committee to address the Committee. County staff 
understands that the Applicants intend to provide reasoning why the issue of Ownership 
can be clarified and that Applications 76/21-79/21 can ultimately be certified without 
restarting the application process over again. The Applicants indicate through their 
representatives that Greg Mitchell is the sole shareholder and President of 11:28 Properties 
Inc..  
 
Recommendation 
 
Please note this report does not contain a staff recommendation as it is prepared in  
advance of the Applicants’ opportunity to address the Land Division Committee. 
Elgin County Senior Counsel Nicholas Loeb and Mr. John Hogan of Hennessey & 
Hogan LLP will be available to the Committee during the meeting.   
 
 
 
 

https://www.canlii.org/en/on/laws/stat/rso-1990-c-p13/latest/rso-1990-c-p13.html#sec50subsec1_smooth

































	AGENDA
	For Wednesday, March 23, 2022 9:00 A.M
	LDC February 23 - Draft Meeting Minutes.pdf
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	The meeting convened at 9:00 a.m. with John R “Ian” Fleck in the Chair.
	None.
	Application E 5-22 – 9:20 a.m.
	Application E 6-22 – 9:30 a.m.
	Application E 7-22 – 9:40 a.m.
	10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING
	The Land Division Committee will meet again on March 23, 2022 at 9:00 a.m.
	11. ADJOURNMENT

	E 8-22 - ES Comments.pdf
	TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE

	E 10-22 - Dutton Dunwich Comments.pdf
	FOR INFORMATION:
	Reasons for and Nature of the Application
	Planning Policy Review

	key map

	E 10-22 - ES Comments.pdf
	TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE

	E 11-22 - Malahide Conditions.pdf
	2022-03-14 DS-22-13 REPORT
	2022-02-22 D10-E11-22 - Thiessen-Roe report map

	E 11-22 - ES Comments.pdf
	TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE

	E 71-21 - ES Comments.pdf
	TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE

	E 71-21 - Dutton Dunwich Comments.pdf
	FOR INFORMATION:
	Reasons for and Nature of the Application
	Planning Policy Review

	CONCLUSION:
	key map

	E 72-21 - Severance Report.pdf
	FOR INFORMATION:
	Reasons for and Nature of the Application
	Planning Policy Review

	CONCLUSION:
	key map

	E 72-21 - ES Comments.pdf
	TO:  THE COUNTY OF ELGIN LAND DIVISION COMMITTEE




